NOTICE OF REGULAR MEETING
OF THE PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

Chair Dan Kovacevic Vice Chair Peter Gray
COMMISSION MEMBERS
Mathew Corrigan Nick Porter Scott Schlossberg
Phil Sveum Charlie McDermott

TIME: 6:00 PM - REGULAR MEETING

DOORS OPEN 15 MINUTES PRIOR TO THE START OF THE MEETING
WHEN: MONDAY, APRIL 13, 2026
WHERE:  FOUNTAIN HILLS COUNCIL CHAMBERS

16705 E. AVENUE OF THE FOUNTAINS, FOUNTAIN HILLS, ARIZONA

PARTICIPATION IN PUBLIC MEETINGS
Request to Comment Cards
To speak or submit written comments, a Request to Comment card is required. Cards must be completed and

submitted to the Clerk before the meeting begins. Late or incomplete cards will not be accepted. A separate
card is required for each agenda item.

Agenda Items (Consent or Regular)

Request to Comment cards must include the agenda item number, whether the speaker is FOR or AGAINST the
item, and whether the individual wishes to speak or submit written comments.

Online Request to Comment cards may be submitted for regular agenda items only to either provide written
comments or request to speak at the meeting. Online submissions must be received by 12:00 PM the day
before the meeting at: https://www.fountainhillsaz.gov/publiccomment. Online comments are shared with the
commission.

Call to the Public requests are accepted in person only. Request to Comment cards must be submitted prior to
the meeting commencing. Online submissions are not accepted for Call to the Public.

Speaking Rules
Speakers may speak only when recognized by the Presiding Officer and are limited to three (3) minutes. All
comments must be directed through the Presiding Officer, not to individual commission members or staff.

Request to Comment cards and submitted information are public records subject to public disclosure.
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CALL TO ORDER AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
INVOCATION (MOMENT OF SILENCE)

ROLL CALL

STATEMENT OF PARTICIPATION

Anyone wishing to address the Commission regarding items listed on the agenda or during Call to the Public
must completely fill out a Request to Comment card located in the back of the Council Chambers and hand it
to the Clerk prior to the start of the meeting. Once the meeting has started, late requests to speak cannot be
accepted. When your name is called, please approach the podium, speak into the microphone, and state
your name and if you are a resident for the public record. Comments may not exceed three minutes. It is the
policy of the Commission not to comment on items brought forth under "Call to the Public." However, staff
can be directed to report back to the Commission at a future date or to schedule items raised for a future
Commission agenda. To avoid disruption of the meeting, to maintain decorum, and provide for an equal and
uninterrupted presentation, applause is not permitted, except during Proclamations, Awards, and
Recognitions. All meeting participants must maintain proper decorum as specified in Section 6 of the Council
Rules of Procedure.

SUMMARY OF CURRENT EVENTS BY DIRECTOR
CONSENT AGENDA

All items listed are considered to be routine, non-controversial matters and will be enacted by one motion
and vote of the Commission. All motions and subsequent approvals of consent items will include all
recommended staff stipulations unless otherwise stated. There will be no separate discussion of these items
unless a Commission Member or member of the public so requests. If a Commission Member or member of
the public wishes to discuss an item on the Consent Agenda, he/she may request so prior to the motion to
accept the Consent Agenda or with notification to the Director or Chairperson prior to the date of the
meeting for which the item was scheduled. The item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and
considered as the first item on the Regular Agenda. The remaining items on the Consent Agenda will be
enacted by one motion and vote of the Commission.

REGULAR AGENDA

a. CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approving the regular meeting minutes of
the Planning and Zoning Commission March 9, 2026.

b. PUBLIC HEARING, with CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Relating to a
SPECIAL USE PERMIT to allow up to six (6) residential units on a 6,000 square-foot
property generally located 150 feet west of the southwest corner of Saguaro Blvd and
Parkview Ave. (16865 E. Parkview Ave.; APN#176-06-099) in the C-2 (Intermediate
Commercial) zoning district.

c. PUBLIC HEARING, with CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Relating to
Ordinance 26-06 amending Sections 1.12, and 2.04 A and F; and adding Sec. 19.06 H
to provide for site plan modifications and murals.

d. PUBLIC HEARING, with CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Relating to
Ordinance 26-03 amending Zoning Ordinance Section 5.13, Community Residences to
remove sections moved to Town Code Article 8-8.

e. Annual Update for the 2020 General Plan

CALL TO THE PUBLIC
Pursuant to A.R.S. §38-431.01, or as prescribed by state law.
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9. COMMISSION DISCUSSION/DIRECTION TO THE DIRECTOR
10. FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS
11. ADJOURNMENT

Dated this day 7th of April, 2026.

Yot Wrrdwir A

Paula Woodward, Executive Assistant

The Town of Fountain Hills endeavors to make all public meetings accessible to persons with disabilities. Please call (480) 816-5100 (voice) or
AZRelay 7-1-1 the Thursday prior to the meeting to request reasonable accommodation.
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ITEM 7.a.
TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS

STAFF REPORT
Meeting Date: 4/13/2026
Meeting Type: Planning and Zoning Commission Regular Meeting
Submitting Department:  Development Services / Planning
Prepared by: Paula Woodward, Executive Assistant

Staff Contact Information: Phone: 480-816-5122
Email: pwoodward@fountainhillsaz.gov

Request to Town Council Regular Meeting (Agenda Language)
CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Approving the regular meeting minutes
of the Planning and Zoning Commission March 9, 2026.

Staff Summary (background)
The intent of approving meeting minutes is to ensure an accurate account of the discussion
and action that took place at the meeting for archival purposes. Approved minutes are placed
on the town's website and maintained as permanent records in compliance with state law.

Related Ordinance, Policy or Guiding Principle
Risk Analysis
Recommendation(s) by Board(s) or Commission(s)
Staff Recommendation(s)
Staff recommends approval of the minutes of the Regular Meeting held on March 9, 2026.
Suggested Motion

MOVE TO APPROVE the Planning and Zoning Commission meeting minutes dated march
9, 2026.

FISCAL IMPACT
Fiscal Impact:
Budget Reference:
Funding Source:

ATTACHMENTS
1. PZ 2026 0309 Minutes
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING
OF THE FOUNTAIN HILLS PLANNNING & ZONING COMMISSION
MARCH 9, 2026

A Regular Meeting of the Fountain Hills Planning & Zoning Commission was convened
at 16705 E. Avenue of the Fountains in open and public session at 6:00 p.m.

Members Present: Chairperson Dan Kovacevic; Commissioner Mathew
Corrigan; Commissioner Charlie McDermott: Commissioner Nick Proctor;
Commissioner Phil Sveum and Commissioner Scott Schlossberg

Members Absent: Vice Chairperson Peter Gray

Staff Present: Development Services Director John Wesley, Senior Planner
Farhad Tavassoli, and Executive Assistant Paula Woodward.
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

Post-Production File

Town of Fountain Hills
Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting Minutes

March 9, 2026

Transcription Provided By:

eScribers, LLC

% k% %k x 3k

Transcription is provided in order to facilitate communication accessibility and may not

be a totally verbatim record of the proceedings.

% k% k% x 3k
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: I'd like to call to order the notice of regular meeting of the Planning
and Zoning Commission for today, Monday, March 9th, 2026.

Please stand and say the Pledge of Allegiance, and a moment of silence.

ALL: | pledge allegiance to the flag of the United States of America, and to the republic
for which it stands, one nation, under God, indivisible, with liberty and justice for all.
CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay, thank you.

Paula, please take the roll.

WOODWARD: Chair Kovacevic.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Present.

WOODWARD: Vice Chair Gray.

Commissioner Proctor.

PROCTOR: Present.

WOODWARD: Commissioner Sveum.

SVEUM: Present.

WOODWARD: Commissioner Schlossberg.

SCHLOSSBERG: Here.

WOODWARD: Commissioner Corrigan.

CORRIGAN: Here.

WOODWARD: Commissioner McDermott.

MCDERMOTT: Here.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. I'd like to read the statement of participation. Anyone
wishing to address the commission regarding items listed on the agenda or during call to
the public must completely fill out a request to comment card located in the back of the
council chambers and hand it to the clerk prior to the start of the meeting.

Once the meeting is started, late requests to speak cannot be accepted. When your
name is called, please approach the podium, speak into the microphone, state your
name and if you're a resident for the public record.

Comments may not exceed three minutes. It is the policy of the Commission not to

comment on items brought forth under call to the public. However, staff can be
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

directed to report back to the commission at a future date or to schedule items raised
for future Commission agenda.

To avoid disruption of the meeting, to maintain decorum, and provide for an equal and
uninterrupted presentation, applause is not permitted except during proclamations,
awards, and recognitions. All meeting participants must maintain proper decorum as
specified in section six of the council Rules of Procedure.

We're -- this is our first meeting, subject to the same rules as council. We're limited to
30 minutes per agenda item, of public comment. Three minutes each, and we will have
a hard stop at three minutes. So please speak fast, and we'll get more people in, and
please don't repeat points that have already been made and we'll get more people in.
And we'd like to get as many speakers in as we possibly can.

Okay, summary of current events by Director -- Director Wesley.

WESLEY: So Commissioners, good to see you this evening and have such a full house
tonight. We don't get that very often. It's good to have the public turn out given the
other items on your agenda this evening, | don't have any updates to take your time
with tonight.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Thank you. We don't have a consent agenda. So we can move on
to the regular agenda.

Consideration and possible action. Approving the regular meeting minutes of the
Planning and Zoning Commission from February 9th, 2026.

Can | get a motion to approve?

SVEUM: So moved.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Can | get a second?

PROCTOR: Second

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Allin favor?

ALL: Aye.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Opposed?

Six-zero.

Item B, public hearing consideration and possible action.
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

Rezone of approximately 20 acres located approximately 600 feet south of the
southeast corner of Golden Eagle Boulevard and Nyack Drive, to allow development of
29 single family residential lots.

Farhad?

FARHAD: Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the commission, and the public.
Wanted to amend slightly your recitation about the rezone request. The request is from
R1-35 to R1-10a, to allow what the applicant is now proposing as a 25 lot -- single family
lot development at the former school site on Aspen Drive, the location for which you've
described.

So to begin, I'll talk a little bit more about the project location and the details of the
request. It's approximately a 20-acre site, and to be more precise, about 19.35 acres
located at the location you just described off of Aspen and Nyack in the, | guess you
could say, the northern half of the town, the closest major street being Golden Eagle
Boulevard to the east.

The request is again, rezoned from R1-35, which allows a minimum of one dwelling unit
per 35,000 square feet to R1-10a, which allows one unit per 10,000 square feet, and
the purpose is to develop a single story residential subdivision for 25 lots.

A little bit of background. The property is currently owned by the Fountain Hills Unified
School District, was previously considered for use as a school. | believe it's been
planned that way since the 70s. The district initiated a public disposal process a couple
years ago, in 2024, and the sale was approved by voters in November of 2024. And
currently, Toll Brothers is under escrow with the school district, and is coming before
you with this rezone proposal.

A little bit about a about the site context and conditions. | showed this aerial on the
upper right hand corner earlier. It is about a 20 acre property. It is bifurcated by the, by
a natural wash on the western portion. The regulatory floodplain and the erosion
setback zone pretty much constitute the wash corridor there, which is approximately
nine acres altogether. The wash serves as a drainage and wildlife habitat. And | want to

say on the onset, there's no construction proposed in the wash.
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

| did provide a zoning map here on the lower right hand corner highlighting the site. It's
zoomed out a little bit more compared to the aerial photograph, but you can see to the
north and east is an existing neighborhood zoned R1-10. And the difference between
the R1-10 and the R1-10a is lot coverage. Lot coverage allowed under the R1-10a is a
little bit more. It's at 40 percent lot coverage area under roof.

And to the east across -- or rather to the west across the wash, that allows for lower
density development. Although it's well across the wash here. So this area here where |
got my cursor running R1-35 approximately right here, and then R143 to the south of
there. So the proposed rezoning again, R1-10a to allow for compatibility and flexibility.
Flexibility with regards to the type of product being offered in relation to the lot sizes
and compatibility with the adjacent neighborhoods to the east and to the north.

The applicant is proposing single-story homes, although the zoning designation R1-10a
would allow two-story homes and more on that a little bit.

Typical lot size would be 80 by 130, or approximately 10,400 square feet. Some of the
setbacks to keep in mind. Front, minimum setback of 20 feet, seven feet on each side
and a rear setback of 20 feet. And that's the setback measured from the property line
to the exterior wall of any home. And again, homes are limited to one story with a
maximum lot coverage of 40 percent.

This was the applicant -- what | have before you is the applicant's original proposal,
which came in with the original request and is included in the staff report. Since then,
actually since Thursday, with following discussions with residents within the
neighborhood, the applicant is now proposing to eliminate the -- four of the 29 lots to
the north, and followed by providing a new plan, seen here.

By eliminating those lots, the applicant is proposing open space to the north. A
centralized smaller open space feature here, in this tract over here where | got my
cursor running. And as | mentioned, the areas that you see outside the rendered area,
within the property lines, of course, the applicant is proposing to maintain that as open
space. At the very least, the areas shaded in blue, which is the regulatory FEMA

floodplain, and the erosion setback zone, which you don't see here, but it is just behind
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

these proposed lots to the west of the site -- or | should say the west of the developed
area.

Open space and density. So the density under the R1-10a would allow 4.35 dwelling
units per acre for the whole site in gross. What the applicant is proposing, the density is
proposed at 1.29 dwelling units per acre, gross. And by that, | mean it includes the
whole area within the boundary. If you want to just take a look at the developable area
here on the east side of the property, it's about 3.13 dwelling units per acre.

So that's about at least ten acres of permanent open space. The applicant might have a
more precise number, but that includes, again the natural wash, the northern edge of
the site, as well as the centralized tract. And by the way, there's two points of vehicular
access leading into this site.

As far as general plan conformance, it seems the -- through our analysis, that that the
proposal supports reuse of under -- is consistent with the general plan support of reuse
of underutilized school district property. It's compatible with the adjacent R1-10
neighborhoods to the east and to the north, and it protects views and neighborhood
character by limiting, as the applicant is proposing, to the development of single story
homes while preserving natural resources, particularly along the wash.

I've provided a citizen participation summary here, briefly. Notices were mailed out
beyond the 300-foot minimum from the site boundaries. There was a neighborhood
meeting on January 20th, which is what those notices were announcing, in which there
were at least 65 attendees. There was additional outreach and follow up by the
applicant with the public. Some of the key topics discussed were density, drainage,
wildlife, views, and traffic.

The community feedback at the meeting was mixed. There was quite a bit of opposition
with a few expressions of support for the single-story product, as well as the fact that
the applicant was proposing to preserve the wash. There was some correspondence
received very recently, March 5th, that's last Thursday. We did receive a petition of
opposition, in which 123 opposed the rezone. It is noted with some of the -- very few of

the names in the petition expressed opposition to the Toll Brothers proposal, but open
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

to the idea of rezoning the property. It's about as much detail | have at this point, but
we also received six letters of support on that date as well. And if there are any more,
I'm sure the applicant will inform.

As far as our analysis, staff believes the rezoning maintains the single family use that's
consistent with the area, the design response to the natural wash constraints. The
single story restriction protects neighbors views with fewer traffic impacts than the
potential school that was originally proposed, and supports a broad -- the project would
support a broader educational reinvestment through the sale of the District owned site.
So in your staff reports, | did include a couple of proposed stipulations for approval, one
being that the final plat, which would come, well, after the preliminary plat, granted the
rezone is approved, the final plat -- we will require that there be a note limiting homes
to one story, and also another note establishing a nondevelopable area for the
floodplain and erosion setback area that | pointed out earlier, which is approximately
nine acres of the site.

We are -- after discussing additional stipulations with the applicant, the applicant did
agree, since this morning, to include a stipulation that would limit the total number of
lots to 25, as depicted in the latest and greatest lot layout, which | presented earlier, it's
not included in your packets, but if need -- if you need me to pull it up, | will. But
certainly if there are other stipulations for approval that we -- may need to be
considered, that can also be discussed at this at this function.

So our suggested motion, staff suggested motion is to move to approve the rezoning
request from R-135 to R-110a, subject to the three conditions that were listed earlier.
With that, I'll conclude my presentation. I've uploaded the applicant's presentation as
well, to follow.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Well, if it's all right with the commissioners, let's hear the applicant
first before we ask questions, okay?

Pull it up for you. There you go. You know what? [I'll just pull up the PowerPoint. Yeah,
yeah, yeah, | think, more full screen. Okay. Speak into the microphone.

MARSH: Thank you, Chair, members of the Planning Commission. Ashley Marsh, for
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

your records. 40 North Central with Gamage and Burnham.

Thank you very much for an opportunity to address your planning commission tonight
on behalf of Toll Brothers. | will try to keep my remarks brief, as we have a full house,
but greatly appreciate your time, and attention, and consideration of Toll's proposal.

So as | mentioned, my name is Ashley Marsh. | am a zoning and land use attorney at
Gamage and Burnham. With me this evening, is Dennis Newcombe. He's senior land
use planner, and Brian Vaccaro, also of our office. And | have the pleasure of
introducing Bob Flaherty. He is the division president of Toll Brothers and Mark
Maloney, land director of Toll.

We also have our engineering team here, Ryan Rabb and Fani Colley Gotla, and |
apologize Fani, | always butcher your last name, but they were the civil engineers who
put together the development plan. So any technical questions, | will refer to greater
minds than myself and have Fani and Ryan address those for you. Really appreciate the
thorough and robust presentation from Farhad. So I'll try to be brief in my remarks as
he's covered a lot of ground.

But | want to start off by thanking you, the Commission, for your time this evening, and
for indulging me in a few minutes. And before | get started with any of the substantive
details, | do want to thank members of the community who've come out and who have
come out tonight to voice their opinions about our proposal, given us a lot to consider,
and we're happy to come back with a revised proposal tonight from where we originally
submitted.

So thank you to members of the community as well. | just didn't want to get rocking
and rolling and forget to acknowledge their important part in this process.

So as Farhad mentioned, we are in the northwest part of Fountain Hills here. We're
about a 19acre site. And this piece of property was originally platted in the 1970s, 1972,
1973 as a 19-acre elementary school site. So the vision for this property since the 70s
has always been a school site, and this is just the plat showing that that is the
demarcation for it.

With that, the site inherited some larger zoning, R1-35, which would accommodate
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

35,000 square foot lots, and also accommodates schools. So think your public school,
which it was intended for, charter school, and also a church. But completely
surrounding it and all the developable areas is our 110 zoning. And so when you look at
the zoning map, you say, wow, that is R1-35. But it's always intended to be a school
owned property, so it never really got a zoning designation to match for a residential
development.

It's a holdover, for lack of a better description, from the 70s.

As | mentioned, the R1-10 zoning is really what's developed around this site. And if you
take a closer look at what's transpired since the planning of the 70s, you see quite a bit
of residential development in the R1-10 area, but you don't see development in the R1-
35 and the R143 around us. And that is because of topographical concerns where those
larger land use designations are. But really all the developable area is R1-10.

And | say that and want to show you this slide here, which we've marked up. That really
shows some of the topography considerations when you look at where this 19 acre site
is, which is outlined in the yellow.

So where you see the R1-10 designations, again, that's where development has
occurred. Those are those existing residences. Those are single-family residential
homes. And then you really get quite a few of the wash corridors. You get terrain, you
get dams, and you actually get a town owned parcel on our south side. So I just bring
this up to show that the developable condition is really in those R1-10 areas. Much of
those other zoning districts are undevelopable land.

And this is just a shot showing straight on of what this site looks like. As you can see, it's
relatively flat on the entryway and then does have that wash corridor and the crest up
back, which is some hillside condition of that property.

Farhad mentioned this in his remarks, and I'm sure you're familiar with it, so | won't
belabor this point, but this particular piece of property was subject to a 2024 special
election in November, 2024. There were two properties that the school district put up
for properties that were underutilized, right? They weren't being fulfilled to their

greatest potential here. And these properties went to a ballot initiative in November of
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

2024.

The proceeds from this sale, if consummated, will go into reinvesting buildings,
transportation, and really support some much needed aid to the school for the health of
the District. This was overwhelmingly approved by the residents of Fountain Hills. 69
percent voted yes, and Toll Brothers was unanimously chosen as the buyer in May of
2025.

So when Toll looked at this site, just to give you a little bit of background, | really give
them all the credit because they really wanted to fit something that would fit the
existing fabric of this community, right? It's 20 acres, surrounded predominantly by R1-
10 homes. It was envisioned as a school site, and they really did quite a bit of legwork
to say, we enjoy Fountain Hills.

We like building in Fountain Hills. What could we build on this vacant, underutilized
school site that matches the existing zoning, that matches the existing fabric, and a
product that we can successfully bring to this area?

When they looked at it, and Farhad mentioned it in his presentation, it was really
important to them to keep these in the same size and scale. And so they looked at all
the R1-10 around it and said, we have something that matches, which would be an R1-
10a.

But we don't feel it's appropriate to do two stories. We don't feel it's appropriate to
build in the wash corridor. We understand that's important for purposes of not only
drainage, but there's a wildlife consideration. We think the expectation of the
neighborhood is that this wash corridor would be preserved. And so that's where this
29 unit plan really came into fruition, because it allows Toll Brothers to build a single
story product. So one story where two would be allowed. It allows Toll Brothers to
preserve that wash corridor, which in and of itself is approximately ten acres. So quite a
significant amount of land to preserve as open space, and really fits with what is existing
there, which is R1-10 lots.

And the only significant distinction between that R1-10 and R1-10a, which we're

proposing, is lot coverage. And you saw that in your staff report, and you saw that in
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

Mr. Tavassoli remarks. That lot coverage goes from 30 to 40 percent. And that's what
allows the single story to happen, because instead of building vertically, you're building
now horizontally. And that 40 percent coverage isn't envisioned for every home. You
are zoning to a maximum, so no home could be more than 40 percent coverage, but it's
really meant to accommodate that buyer or two that might want the garage extension,
that might want the extended patio. Not each of these homes will have 40 percent
maxed out lot coverage, but it does allow for that profile to remain single-story for each
nine of those 29 lots.

What the other thing that we wanted to look at, and again, | give Toll credit for this, is
they didn't want to overwhelm the site. So that was a low density number at about 1.5
dwelling units per acre. And they wanted to retain similar circulation patterns in the
area. So you see the horse shape on this site for the circulation, same as the neighbors
to the north.

So we really tried to mirror the circulation. Make sure that these were all single story
homes. Stay out of that wash corridor. Again, not just for drainage considerations,
because it was important to tool, not to build in there, to follow those back property
lines to the neighbors to the north, and to really, again, propose something that we felt
was very much similar in size and scale to the existing homes.

Farhad stole my thunder a little bit with the X's, but we did go ahead and have
continued engagement with the neighbors. And what we heard was, we're concerned
about density, we're concerned about wildlife, we're concerned about drainage, we're
concerned about open space. And so in looking at the site plan with a little bit of those
considerations in mind, Toll has heard from those neighbors, has heard the feedback
and has elected to eliminate 14 percent of their site plan.

So removing four lots from that northwest corner to create another open space area to
address some of those concerns about drainage, to create something meaningful where
you've got now 1.3 additional acres of open space. So we're at over 11 acres of open
space between these improvements in the wash corridor, and really be responsive to

some of that feedback.
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TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS
MARCH 9, 2026 PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES

With this revision, we are still able to do the single-story lots, we are still able to remain
that similar circulation, and we're still able to stay out of that wash corridor. So the
revised plan, as mentioned, includes 25 lots at approximately 1.3 dwelling units per
acre, which is really a low density project. This is more than half of the site open space.
We're only at 19 acres. We've got over 11 now as preserved open space. And in doing
so you know, we have eliminated a home off of Aspen. We've created another natural
open space corridor and have taken some of that community feedback and
implemented it on a site that Toll knows that they can deliver,

With this, we hope to provide certainty to the neighbors. We've got some stipulation
language that we propose this morning, that stipulation three that would follow the
case, that would allow for those 25 homes to be built, and a stipulation that follows the
site plan. So the revised 25 units instead of the 29 we originally submitted with.

Just as a conceptual rendering, this one's a little outdated. This one showed the 29
homes, but as you can see, this really does fit into the existing homes and that same
kind of footprint. The R1-10 homes are a 10,000 square foot lot, as are these. And this
is just a perspective to show that wash corridor maintain, those crest views maintain,
and this vacant, flat, underutilized school district lot being developed.

Just for a couple examples of homes, we are very excited to offer a product, again, that
single-story. There'll be four different models, each of them with about four different
facades, some a little bit more traditional craftsmen, some with a little bit more modern
architecture. And then within this, potential homeowners will be able to choose from a
menu of colors and choices. So just on these 25 lots, | think I've reiterated four times,
four we're 16 and we haven't even gotten to the color palette yet so there'll be some
great variation from home to home.

Big points that we've heard from the community. Again, we've been out there talking to
folks and trying to make sure we understood the concerns. And probably the number
one concern we heard from was traffic, and how these 25 lots will go ahead and create
some additional traffic considerations. Absolutely. With any type of development,

you'll get more traffic there, but it is far less than the envisioned school site. And again,
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| showed you that plat map from 1972. This road was planned to be a school. That's
what the original dedication was for, for lack of a better description.

That column that I've highlighted shows the a.m. peak and the p.m. peak hours. Those
are when you really experience traffic volumes, when you're sitting in traffic at the end
of the day or in the morning. As you can see in these boxes, it's quite a bit different.
Hundreds of trips reduced in the morning if you were to move forward with a charter
school or with an elementary school, and we have on this bottom column here, single
family detached, 15 dwelling units per acre, excuse me, 15 dwelling units. That would
be the number allowed by Wright under the R-135.

And so | would love to draw your attention just to that bottom row with the difference.
And this is at 29 units. You'll see that we are our -- excuse me -- our traffic engineer has
calculated that those a.m. peaks are only nine more trips than if this site were to be
developed, as by Wright, with 15 homes and only 14 more trips in the afternoon. So
really, really low traffic differentiation between what was there by Wright from homes,
and pretty significant traffic differentiation if this were to be developed as a school,
either elementary school or charter school. And this doesn't account for busses back
and forth what not. And this is just trips.

| went ahead and did some napkin math, and I'm an attorney and not a math magician
here, but just as a reduction of 14 percent across the board here, those trips get even
less when you take those homes out. So six trips and ten trips are what would be
anticipated in those peak hours, than if this site were to develop by Wright. So we
understand there's a lot of traffic concerns, and we've taken a look at what those
volumes look like. Again, based on the charter school and elementary school developed
by Wright. We think that this is a much improved traffic condition than if it were to
build as a school.

Another thing we've heard is folks like to use Aspen to walk and to meet their
neighbors. And we appreciate that. That is wonderful that folks are using Aspen and
walking their dog in the morning. One thing that we've noticed is that there's no

sidewalks out in front of the frontage. And with development of this site, we will be
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installing a sidewalk along Aspen Drive, as part of our frontage. And we've also
approached the town on extending the sidewalk so that this entire strip of undeveloped
property -- and hopefully my cursor showing up. This is a town owned parcel here, and
we've approached the town about extending the sidewalk so that this entire stretch of
frontage along Aspen will have a sidewalk to get people off the road when they're
walking or participating in any type of recreational activity.

The little thumbnail sketch is just a cross-section of what that might look like, but it's
really exciting for Toll to be able to get pedestrians off the road and doing some street.
And | apologize, this exhibit hasn't been updated on the northwest corner. It shows that
lot one, but that is a vacant lot.

The other big point of feedback we've heard a lot of concern about is grading and
drainage. Toll currently has a preliminary plat pending with the town. And as part of
that preliminary plat, that's where you do a lot of those fine-tuned engineering details.
You don't necessarily submit a grading and drainage plan with a straight rezoning
request, but we've got our engineers here for any specific questions. Hewitt-Zollars is a
phenomenal engineering firm, civil firm. They've already submitted a grading and
drainage plan to the town as part of the preliminary plat. And I just show these
documents to show that we we've done a review of grading and drainage that
engineered document is planning with town.

And this is a sketch, if you will, kind of showing some of the current existing drainage
conditions in red, with how our proposal will improve, actually, the current existing
drainage, grading and drainage on this site. For a very elementary explanation, we
understand that water comes and over overtops Aspen, for lack of a better description,
and any improvements that we make will improve that drainage condition because the
flows will come from that north site, be able to be mitigated and managed, and get
them out to the wash.

So if you'll indulge me just for a second, you'll see we've got a note that the existing
drainage channel is currently filled with silts. At the north part, a drainage track will be

regraded to remove any low points and convey water to the wash. So red current, blue
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improved. And there's currently a low area that's ponding water based on a recent
Topo study. This open space will be regraded to remove these low points and again
convey water to the wash.

We understand that, again, that stormwater is topping over the existing ribbon curb into
the property. A curbs proposed along Aspen Drive in front of the parcel to increase
street capacity. And then there is another existing low point. There'll be a storm drain
to convey water. And this is all going to help current conditions get that water into the
wash.

We've also gotten some feedback that our lot sizes are not compatible with the existing
neighborhood. I'll just briefly explain. This slide is kind of self-explanatory, but the R1-
10 and R1-10a zoning districts require both 10,000 square foot lots, so we feel that we
are compatible with the existing lot sizes in the neighborhood.

You will see that there are a couple existing lots that are larger. Those are on sloped
conditions. So just point that out because where our particular piece of property sits, |
showed you it's relatively flat. Those are consistent with other lot sizes up and down
Aspen. But there are a couple larger lots. And those are taking into consideration slope
and what's actually buildable up there.

So in summary, we are very excited to request this rezoning proposal for the vacant
school-owned property from R-135 to R1-10a to accommodate those 25 single family
lots. This is a development of vacant land. It will school homes -- again, development of
vacant land will bring additional housing stock to Fountain Hills. More opportunities for
home ownership increases your tax base. We are almost identical to the adjacent R-110
zoning that increase in lot coverage, which we've shared quite a few times now, is just
to accommodate those single story homes.

This creates certainty for the development of this parcel. Again, this was a ballot
measure. This piece of property will be sold. It will be developed. And by doing this
process, there is a limitation on density. There's preservation of open space. There's a
commitment to single story.

So there's a lot of great features that come with this rezoning request. And that will
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carry with -- through the development of this site. We do have staff support. | know
there's a lot of folks here, and | will kind of relinquish my stage here, for lack of a better
description. I'm happy to answer any questions. And Chair, | would appreciate an
opportunity to address your commission again, after we've heard from some folks.
CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. Thank you, Ashley.

Commissioners, any questions for staff or for Petitioner?

PROCTOR: | -- either -- anybody can answer the question, but the estimated price point
for these homes?

MARSH: Thank you, through the Chair. We are anticipating the base price to be one to
$1.2 million for these homes.

SCHLOSSBERG: Okay. And then gated or non-gated?

MARSH: Not gated.

SCHLOSSBERG: Not gated okay. Thank you.

MARSH: Thank you.

CORRIGAN: Just two quick questions, and maybe this is for Ashley too. But from what |
understand from your presentation, you're presenting two storm drains on Aspen, is
that right, to come out to the wash?

MARSH: Through the Chair, if you don't mind, if I have a Ryan Rabb answer this two
storm drains question. He's the one who engineered it. | want to make sure you get the
right information.

RABB: Chair, Planning Commissioners. My name is Ryan Rabb, 5050 North 40th Street,
Phoenix. With Hewitt-Zoller's. It's really one storm drain system. The slide is now up
there. I don't know if | can use the pointer also. So the low point currently on Aspen is
at approximately this location, and we would be building curb and sidewalk along the
entire street. It drains to the southeast, and it would be collected in the storm drain
system that would come down and dump out into the wash.

CORRIGAN: Thank you. And the second question | had, maybe for you, maybe not.
From what | see now, there are no contiguous lots with prior property. In other words,

what I'm saying is that it appears that the that the four lots that have been taken out
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were adjacent or contiguous to other existing properties. So that's no longer the case, is
that right?

MARSH: Through the Chair, that's absolutely accurate. There are no contiguous lots on
our revised site plan. And I'll just pull that up for your review, but absolutely correct.
SVEUM: Thank you.

MCDERMOTT: Thank you, Chair. | have a question for Ashley.

Ashley, could you talk to us a little bit about the remaining nine acres of the property?
What happens to that property?

MARSH: Through the Chair, thank you for that question, Commissioner McDermott. So
we are not proposing any type of building on those nine acres. And | believe you're
talking the Ashbrook wash corridor. We are working with the town on whether they
would like them dedicated, a conservation easement, if they would like drainage and
grading easement. We have the pre plot in. It does not show any construction there. It
shows future dedication, and we're happy to work with the town on if it would like to be
conveyed or if they would like us to keep it and maintain it. But there's no building in
that area.

MCDERMOTT: Okay. Okay. Second question | have and perhaps this is for Ryan, but
could you talk to us a little bit about the street parking? Because it looks like the
proposed road is -- it looks like it's the same width as Aspen, but can you tell us a little
bit more about that?

MARSH: Through the Chair, these are proposed to be public roads, so we are happy to
work with the town on Aspen drive our own roads. Toll restricts parking on those roads.
So we're not anticipating there to be cars in -- excuse me -- up and down these roads
overnight. If someone comes for a football game, whatnot. And we're happy to work
with the town along Aspen Drive. It is their road.

MCDERMOTT: Okay. And then last question on the on the parcels themselves, are

they -- would they be driveways for two cars or four cars or what. What what's the size
you envision for that?

MARSH: Through the Chair. They are envisioned to accommodate at least two vehicles
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on site. And again, if someone neglected additional parking, they have the garages
available to them. But at least two cars for sure.

MCDERMOTT: Okay, okay. Thank you.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. | have a couple of questions. Will there be an HOA?

MARSH: I'm just going to stay up here till you excuse me, Chair. Yes, there will be an
HOA that is created and maintains the open space areas and enforces their CCR's.
CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. And we spoke about striping on Aspen, and | now understand
Public Works will not allow striping on Aspen because it's not on any of the other
residential roads in town. Is that --

MARSH: Through the Chair.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: -- am | correct in that?

MARSH: Thank you for that. We have proposed striping from basically Nyack up to
Golden Eagle to create a bike lane and two lanes of traffic. We shared an exhibit with
Public Works. We have not gotten confirmation that that would be accepted yet. We'd
be happy to do it, but the feedback is that Public Works is not too excited about that
plan.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Yeah. And I thought | had heard about sidewalk extension. Can we
visit that for a second? . That shows it going across the -- what would it be? The
entrance to the wash? Is it possible to get that extended up to Golden Eagle? | thought
I'd heard that.

MARSH: Thank you for that question, Chair. We have proposed extending it across this
vacant piece of property where the town owns this property. To extend it up to Golden
Eagle would be to put it through these neighboring properties, which are privately
owned. Would require changing driveways, and we really wouldn't want to encroach on
these neighbors. There's also some significant topographical constraints that we need
to think about on doing so. This street slopes upward. So we are happy to make the
extension across that town owned property to get people around this curve, and that's
what this line shows. But we really wouldn't want someone's driveway rearranged to

extend that sidewalk up to Golden Eagle.
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CHAIR KOVACEVIC: And the last item that | recall from meeting was there were some
existing ponding situations on -- was it on Aspen Drive? And what is the proposal to
remediate that?

MARSH: Thank you, Chair. So | just bring up this exhibit again, and I'm happy to have
Ryan come and address any other concerns. But essentially there is some ponding in
this area where their open space cursor is. There's low ponding water, and the open
space will be regraded to remove these points and convey it into the wash. So there's
some here. There's also a little bit, and Ryan, if you want to come in and correct me
here, we understand there's a little bit of a low point on the street. And the curb will
help get these flows back into the wash.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay.

SVEUM: My question is, with respect to the wash, | know you mentioned that you may
not be dedicating or providing an easement for the for the town. If this were to move
forward, | would hope that you have more discussions with the town about having them
maintain it. So there's continuity and there's not, well, they should have maintained this
part or that part or whatever it might be, because they do get overgrown, and they do
provide -- or we do end up with water issues. So | hope that that you and the town can
have some discussions about that, and -- rather than depending on the HOA, because if
the HOA doesn't have the money to do it for whatever reason, who's going to who they
fall back on, right? So that hopefully that can be pursued as well.

MARSH: Through the Chair. We would be happy to dedicate it to the town.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Anybody else?

Okay. Thank you very much.

Paula, do we have any comment cards?

WOODWARD: We do. We do, Chair. We have eight speaker cards for the project, we
have seven speaker cards against the project and seven nonspeaking cards against the
project, and nine online for against the project.

So the speaker cards with that said, we're going to be calling speakers in increments of

three. So be ready to go because the session is only 30 minutes total for public
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comment. So the first speaker | have is Tammy Bell, and then it will be Jean Serrano and
then Richard Rakowski.

BELL: Good evening, Chair, members of the Planning and Zoning Commission. My name
is Tammy Bell. | have been a resident in Fountain Hills for 21 years and have been living
on Aspen for 17 of those.

So | want to thank you for your time and thoughtful consideration of this proposed
development on Aspen Drive. These decisions, | know, are not simple, and | do
appreciate the responsibility you carry to hear our concerns and also consider the long
term needs of our town. As a resident, | am directly affected by this proposal, so | have
explored the project in great detail. | have consulted with the town's engineering team
on my own, | have listened to the neighbors, and | have engaged directly with the
developer to explore my concerns and solutions.

I've been very impressed with Toll Brothers. | want to say, their representatives, they
have genuine interest to listen to us. They have met with the residents in an open
forum, as well as in our individual homes, and have addressed concerns wherever
possible. This level of personal engagement has been greatly appreciated. | cannot
imagine what the developer could have done more to reasonably hear, understand, and
address the concerns of the surrounding residents.

What Toll Brothers is proposing tonight provides me great certainty. A high quality
builder with established reputation, single-level homes, cooperation with the town on
traffic, drainage, pedestrian safety and preserved areas, limiting lot coverage to no more
than 40 percent, and all with demonstrating willingness to work with our neighbors. By
contrast, maintaining the current zoning could allow uses with far greater traffic and
impact in my neighborhood.

Realistic alternatives could include a -- 17 two story homes with absolutely no
neighborhood input. A private or charter school with large drop off and pick up activity.
I don't know if you guys have ever been near bases on Shay, but | do not want that on
my street. A church with large parking areas or 25, single level homes with drainage

enhancements, public safety and traffic considerations, and designated preserved areas.
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If you were to give me all these realistic options, my choice is clearly the proposal you
have in front of you today.

While these homes may not target young families, they do serve long term health of
Fountain Hills. This proposal aligns with the general plan supporting orderly and
predictable growth, sustains a town's tax base and financial stability, supports local
businesses and services, maintains and protects our property values, provides neighbors
certainty through thoughtful design and consideration of our neighborhood, and
supports our largest employer in town, the Fountain Hills Unified School District,
allowing it to progress.

For all of these reasons, | am in favor of the rezoning request, and | respectfully urge you
to consider approving it tonight, as well. Thank you for your time.

SERRANO: Good evening. My name is Jean Serrano and | live at 15213 East Shootout
Plaza. | want to focus specifically on Toll Brothers assertion that this development will
attract families and young working professionals to Fountain Hills, consistent with goal
three of the general plan. The numbers simply do not support that claim.

The average home price in Fountain Hills is already approximately 700,000. The average
household income is roughly 140,000. At that level income, even purchasing an average
home in town is financially challenging. Toll brothers is proposing home starting at 1.2
million and above.

Homes at this price point are not designed for teachers, nurses, first responders, young
professionals, or young families. They are designed for buyers with established wealth,
such as retirees, second home owners, and individuals with mature financial portfolios.
There is nothing wrong with serving that market segment, but it is misleading to suggest
that 25 luxury homes will diversify our age demographics, improve housing affordability,
or attract working families to Fountain Hills.

All five of my daughters have moved out of Fountain Hills to find housing for their young
families, as they can't afford it here. This proposal does not address affordable housing
need. It does not create sustainable or attainable housing. It does not support the

workforce that keeps this community functioning. It simply increases density at the top
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end of the market.

Goal three of the general plan is about sustaining and strengthening our community.
Toll brothers proposal does not advance that goal. The Planning and Zoning
Commission should not allow a marketing narrative to substitute for the economic
realities of our town. Multimillion dollar homes will not attract families and young
working professionals to Fountain Hills. Thank you.

RADKOWSKI: Good evening Mr. Chairman and Commissioners. My name is Richard
Radkowski. As of this summer, I'll be a 25 year resident of Fountain Hills. I'm also
president of the Fountain Hills School Board. Although tonight | am speaking for myself
and not as a representative of the board as a whole. | do support the proposed rezoning
of the Aspen property, and here are some of my reasons.

As we heard in November 2024, the Fountain Hills voters expressed their will 69 percent
to 31 percent. The District is listening to and acting upon the will of the voters. The sale
will be of significant financial benefit to the district, schools, the students, and parents
by generating funds to keep our school buildings and safe and proper condition, and to
address needed roof replacement and HVAC systems awaiting attention.

The sale will financially benefit taxpayers by repurposing vacant property, which is not
and will not be needed for school a school building. This will help us preserve other
funds for teacher salaries and classroom use.

We heard that the rezoning plan preserves the wash and significant open space along
the entire parcel of land. The proposed rezoning, as we heard, also matches the density
of the existing homes on Aspen and the adjacent streets. We heard about single-story
homes to preserve views. As we also heard, the current zoning would allow two story
homes on the property. The designs of the new homes are likely to have a positive
effect and increase the property values of the existing homes in the neighborhood.

So for all these reasons and others, | urge you to vote to approve the proposal. Thank
you.

WOODWARD: Next group of speakers will be in order of Liza Morwich, Dale Tilzer, and
Matt Wilson.
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MORICH: Good evening, Chair, Commissioners. Liza Morich, two year resident here.
The only -- | oppose this, and the reason being, when | first moved over here to
Scottsdale, when | moved to Scottsdale from Chicago 2019, | saw Adero being built and
it was beautiful. And the homes are very pretty. It's still being built, and it's just homes
upon homes upon homes. And when | found out that that style of home was coming to
Fountain Hills, | was actually just really, just not happy about it at all.

| think that we have an amazing, beautiful town here in Fountain Hills, and the style of
these Toll Brothers homes is just not something that we need over here on this side of
our community. Thank you.

TILZER: Good evening, I'm Dave Tilzer. My address is 15856 North Aspen Drive, and I've
been a resident one year. This month we moved to Fountain Hills because it was really
quiet and nice. Originally from Seattle area. No traffic. A lot -- a lot of things really good
about it. We found out shortly after we bought our home that the school was selling
the property.

There's a couple comments that have been made in the last few weeks that | want to
clarify. | keep hearing about, originally, it's going to be a school. We've even been told
as residents, if you don't accept this, they might put a school there. We know there's
not going to be a school there. The reason why we know it is because we can't fill the
school buildings that we have today. So we just want to make sure that we're factual in
our statements, and we would appreciate that as residents.

The other thing is, we're going to have someone, if he comes up, if he has the ability to
come up to talk about traffic. It's not about the flow of the traffic. It's not about the
density or the -- or how much traffic. It's about the design of Aspen Drive. We have two
blind corners up on the map, up on that, coming right out of the new homes. That is
already dangerous to the residents. The residents have contacted the town on several
occasions, asked for help. They've had no response.

The other thing is, there is one driveway from one of our residents that faces the road.
It's that far right road going out. The house across the street is their house. In fact,

she's here. Yeah. The driveway faces the road -- the road coming out. So it's really
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dangerous for them to try to get their car out of the driveway and move down the road.
And we've mentioned these things.

But what | the other thing | want to talk about is lot coverage. We hear lot coverage is
similar. | just want to be clear on the facts. I'm glad Ashley brought up the map to show
that itisn't all 30 percent in Aspen Drive neighborhood. There are some lot -- there is
some coverage of lots and lot smaller than 30 percent or 40 percent.

But the last thing | really want to talk about is how much I'm for Toll Brothers. I'm for
Toll Brothers because they actually came to our house. They spent an hour and a half
and we've had a couple conversations. We had a we had a Zoom meeting with them.
They came to our house and talked to us because they put in the letter, if you have any
guestions, come talk to us or we'll come see you. And they did that. They spent an hour
and a half and they listen to our concerns. They negotiated us for that hour and a half.
We said, hey, density is an issue. That's when they agreed to -- well, it took them a day
or two to think about it, but that's when they removed the four homes, which went
right back to some of the neighbors houses --

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. Time's up.

TILZER: Last, last, last point. | just want to say | appreciate Toll Brothers. | support Toll
Brothers as a developer, and | support their plan, because who knows what we're going
to get otherwise.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. Thank you.

WILSON: Commissioners, thank you for holding the hearing tonight. My name is Matt
Wilson. | live on 15824 North Eagles Nest Drive. I'm within that 300 foot range that
you've seen on the map over here. I've talked to a lot of neighbors about this program,
about what's going on, to get a feel for how everybody feels in the community about
this. I can tell you a few things.

First of all, nobody wants a school built there. Nobody's expecting a school built there.
Maybe I'm a relic from the 70s as well, but nobody's expecting that to happen. And
nobody is also under the impression that this land should not be developed. Everybody

understands that this land was going to be sold, and it was going to be developed.
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I think when you go back to the actual study that was done by the school board, where
they came back and they did a study on the land saying, what is the feasibility of sale?
What's it valued at? What could we reasonably put on there in its current zoning? They
came back and said, this is about 12 to 14 homes. And that was a study done by Nathan
and Associates back in 2024, for the sale. That is what people went to the polls with.
When they had this ballot right here, and they went to the polls. They were expecting
12 to 14 homes down the street. And you know, they could live with that. That's not a
big deal there.

But now what's happening is we're moving the goalposts in the middle. We're adjusting
things so that we're accommodating the developer instead of saying, no, this is what we
felt it was designed for. This is what it's zoned for. This is pretty much what the
community went to the polls to vote for. And now we're asking that to be changed over
here.

| don't think anybody is under the impression that this shouldn't be developed. What
I'm saying is that we need to take a look at exactly this, because the density that's being
proposed between 10 and 10a doesn't sound like a big deal, but that lot coverage on
there is going to make it a lot closer together for the homes. And personally, when |
moved out here, and I've been here 13 years, | didn't like the homes that were close
together. I'd like to have a little bit of space between my neighbors.

That seven foot buffer between homes, | don't even think that's as far as between you
and Mr. Kovacevic. | don't think that's even that far here. And that's exactly what we're
proposing. So | know there's a lot of other topics on the plan tonight that they're
speaking about the traffic, which that is a dangerous curve. I've walked it many times.
I've driven it. I'm shocked that there's not been an accident there before. Mark my
words, if you don't do anything on that one, sooner or later, someday somebody is
going to get hurt if nothing's going to happen.

But my proposal on this is why do we have to go back to R10 -- R1-10a for the density
on this one? Why is R1-18 not an option in here? Could we not find a program that

develops it at that level, as well? Would that not find a middle ground between what a
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developer's needs are and between what the community could accept?

That's my point. I'll yield my time. Thank you.

WOODWARD: Next speakers will be Bert Wolff, Robert Baranoff, and excuse me,
Carmina DuAmour.

WOLFF: Good evening, I'm Bert Wolf. I'm a resident. There is no need for the
opponents of this proposal to bash another area in town to advance their parochial
agenda. The total development in Idaho Canyon contains multiple examples of
nationally award winning architecture. There is a consistency and a rhythm to the
architecture that other areas in town do not necessarily possess. Does it appeal to
everyone? Nothing does. Yet the fact remains that hundreds of these homes have been
bought in this beautiful area of our town and home buyers preferences are revealed by
the purchasing choices when they are affordable to them.

Now let's turn to the proposal that issue. | support the proposed rezoning. Beyond
preserving some 12 acres as open space, total seeks to build single family homes on lots
of at least 10,000 square feet, which is by definition, low density housing. There are
already many homes on 10,000 square foot lots in the immediate vicinity of this parcel.
10,000 square foot lots are therefore compatible with the character of the
neighborhood as it currently exists.

We have many examples within a quarter mile or less of the proposed development.
According to the County Assessor's Office, Here are nearly two dozen homes with lots
between just 10,000 and 10,099 square feet, except for 15844 North Aspen, which
abuts this parcel and is 9878 square feet. So there's 15,844 and 16011, 018, 042, 050,
058 and 16220 on North Aspen. There's 15,633, 656, 802, 814, 815, 819, 820 and 824
on North Eagle Nest. There's 15,404 and 405 on East Roundup and 15,208 and 214 on
East Shootout. There's also 15,860 on North Nyack, 15,205 on East Rusty Nail and
15,403 on East Wrangler.

Further, R10a lot coverage at 40 percent is just ten percent more than our ten lot
coverage at 30 percent. The minimum yield, excuse me, the minimum yard setbacks are

the same for the front and the side and differ by only five yards in the rear. Proposed
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rezoning at R10a need not be identical in every respect, but rather merely compatible
with the surrounding neighborhood, and plainly, here it is.

Moreover, Toll builds beautiful homes. The proposed homes are expected to be new
and modern with very attractive designs. This proposal is an asset to the neighborhood,
will likely increase the property values there, and is good for the town. For a variety of
reasons that others have expressed, the proposal serves the public interest.

Mindful of this Commission's time limits, | will stop there. Thank you all so much.
BARANOFF: Good evening. My name is Robert Baranoff. | live on Golden Eagle
Boulevard. On the card | had to fill out, | was asked if | was for or against the agenda
item. Let me be clear. | am neither for nor against the project. It's -- excuse me --
against the project itself, at this point. | am against the Planning and Zoning
Commission passing or recommending the project at this time, because | feel that it
would be premature.

There are a number of outstanding issues that | believe, in the name of due diligence,
need to be resolved before one can make that determination. As others have -- number
one, as others have mentioned in more detail, | believe an independent traffic study
needs to be done. | know -- number two, | know that Toll Brothers, to their credit, has
addressed certain water runoff issues in their proposal, but | don't believe it is good
practice to rely on a party that has such a vested interest in the outcome. Therefore, |
think the town needs to hire an independent hydrologist to study the impact of their
development plans on drainage, runoff, flooding, et cetera.

Number three. Likewise, we need a study analyzing the potential impact of the project
on wildlife. We all know that the wash is home to and used as a traffic route by coyotes,
javelinas, bobcats, rabbits, and even the occasional gila monster, which, by the way,
became the first venomous animal in North America to receive legal protection in 1952.
We need a study on how these animals will be impacted.

Number four. There's an outstanding legal question as to whether or not the property
in question is subject to rules and oversight of the Neighborhood Property Owners

Association, or MPOA. Toll Brothers says that it is not. But the MPOA insists that it is.
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To support its case, Toll Brothers points to a 1973 amendment to the Declaration of
Reservations. This amendment, however, doesn't say that the deletion nor the
unrestricted use of lot four, block two from the recorded plat is in perpetuity, only until
there is a determination as to how the lots will be developed. Well, that time is now.
So the legal question is, is this property once again subject to MPOA restrictions? Has it
been subject to them all along, as asserted by the MPOA itself, or at least since 1974,
when the Declarant decided to give the land to the school system. Or Is Toll Brothers,
correct, that they are not bound by the MPOA? Under any circumstances, until we
know the answer, | think it's premature to proceed.

Number five, the information you received prior to tonight's meeting, of course, was for
29 houses. Now we're talking about 25 houses, and we obviously need some assurance
that it's the 25 home plan that would be under consideration, not the 29 home plan.

In closing, let me say that | and other neighbors appreciate Toll Brothers' willingness to
respond to neighborhood concerns. But there's more to be done, more independent
impact studies and legal questions that need to be resolved before this project is ready
to move forward.

Thank you for your time.

DUAMOUR: Good evening, Mr. Chairman, Board. My name is Carmen DuAmour, with
my wife, Ray DuAmour. We reside at 15844 North Aspen Drive. And if you look at that
plan, we are the most affected on that entire project. We have met with the Toll
Brothers, their attorneys, their representatives, and | have to say that they were
extremely amicable.

They personally came to our homes and met with us. They addressed our concerns and
for that, they were able to remove four of those homes, two of which were going to be
behind us, one on the side of our house and one directly behind us. So for that, | say,
thank you very much for your compassion and your dedication.

What | do want to say, though, is that | noticed in the paperwork for tonight, the
agenda, you're already recommending approving this. | ask you, each and every one of

you, to not rubber stamp this project until you get the facts straight. You've heard an
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awful lot of things going on. Most aren't true. A lot is true. But you, as representatives
of this community have the responsibility to hear our voice, not the -- not the
Commissioner's voice. You need to hear us.

Having said that, we've talked about traffic and the traffic safety. Two Fridays ago we
had Friedel Friday on the internet standing there with, | don't know, some supervisors,
superintendents of the school, saying we've been here for 20 minutes now at 10 a.m. on
a Friday and four cars have gone by. Holy cow, that -- what kind of traffic could that be?
Are you kidding? Seriously? Please do your due diligence. That is not a traffic study.

In closing, | want to say that my wife and | are in favor -- if this goes through and moves
forward, we are in favor of Toll Brothers being the builder of choice.

Thank you for your time.

WOODWARD: The next set of speakers are Larry Schmidt, Pamela Cook, and Susan
Titus. Larry Schmidt, are you here? No? Larry Schmidt. Okay. Pamela Cook, are you
here?

COOK: Chair, Commissioners. Good evening. My name is Pamela Cook. | live at 15659
North Aspen Drive. If you look at the map, you can see my driveway is directly across
from the southern entrance to the proposed development. I'm here to request that Toll
Brothers conduct a traffic impact analysis for this development. Section 2307 of the
Zoning Ordinance requires this analysis for rezoning application of this magnitude.

This requirement exists for a reason. Aspen drive already presents real measurable
hazards that are blind curves and steep grades. Sight distance is limited in multiple
locations.

Toll brothers proposes to add more than 60 additional daily vehicle trips. This
represents a meaningful increase in collision and pedestrian risks, and emergency
response delays. | am particularly concerned about the southern entrance to the
proposed development. This spot comes up quickly. It's deceptive for drivers coming
down a hill from Golden Eagle Boulevard at a legal 35 miles an hour or faster, who hit a
blind corner just before this entrance.

I've learned to check my rear view mirror before the blind corner, to make sure there is
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no one coming down the hill too closely behind me. Someone who might rear end me
as | slow down and make the 90 degree right turn into my driveway. Backing out of my
driveway is a high speed event. Many travelers driving both -- many drivers traveling
both ways into the corner are going too fast and are blindly carried into the middle of
the road.

Downhill northbound drivers coming to the blind corner are often forced into the
oncoming traffic lane by my neighbors landscapers truck as they come around the
corner. Besides making pedestrians leap into my yard on a regular basis, they often
encounter my landscapers truck and trailer or delivery vans stopped in front of the
house.

It's easy to envision the perfect storm with 60additional car trips being made of one
vehicle parked in front of my house, another vehicle, or vehicles at a full stop waiting to
turn left into the southern entrance, as a car coming down the hill at 35 miles around
the corner arrives on the scene with nowhere to go. Like the pedestrians when | come
down around the corner.

We are also concerned about the impact on first responders. Narrow travel lanes and
roadside parking already limit the maneuverability. With the 25 new homes and limited
on-site parking overflow parking onto Aspen Drive -- it's not speculative. It is inevitable.
We've all seen people don't use their garages. Constricted access for fire and medical
responders is a public safety issue, not a neighborhood preference.

The overflow parking on Aspen is also an issue as there is heavy pedestrian usage,
including many young children on bikes who do not know the rules of the road. And
watching them go up around the blind corner gives me a heart attack. | do appreciate
the Toll Brothers has offered to put in a sidewalk. Without the required sidewalk --
without required study. There is no real objective basis for the Commission to conclude
that this project will maintain acceptable levels of service, preserve emergency access,
or protect the public safety. Rezoning without the mandated traffic study would mean
approving density first and evaluating the consequences later. That's backwards.

| sincerely request that Toll Brothers comply with Section 2307 and provide the traffic
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impacts the law requires. Thank you.

WOODWARD: Were you, Pam Cook? Susan Titus. Okay. The next person is going to
be --

TITUS: Good evening. Susan Titus, 15633 North Eagle's Nest Drive. I'm representing
myself and my husband. We own the property. We bought the property in 2001, so --
and when we bought the property on the corner of Eagle's Nest and Aspen, we knew
that the school owned the property or deeded the property. So there's been no secrets
about that.

The zoning had been in place for quite some time, as far as the number of lots. | have
called three mayors in the -- in the years that we have owned the property, to ask for
traffic counts on Aspen. Aspen is a real issue as far as safety. We are right on the corner
of that area. We are right by a blind curve, and we take our lives in our hands every
time we drive in that area.

1

The improvement cannot be done by grading, or doing sidewalks, or anything else. It's
the traffic count that counts. | have also called mayors -- the past mayors here about
having speed bumps. They tell us you cannot have a speed bump in our area on Aspen
and all that, because it's just too dangerous. We could not get to the cul de sacs and the
people that need the help, if they have to do -- travel down Aspen with a speed bump.
So we have had no issues, as far as talking to mayors and having any help at all in a
traffic issue. That's not even counting the intersection of Aspen and Golden Eagle --
anyway, it's just amazing how that you have not really requested speed counts and car
counts. It's justit's so wrong that somebody stands there at 10 in the morning and
thinks -- it's a working neighborhood. We bought it as a working neighborhood. And it
is still that. It is a community, a small community of working and very giving people.
Thank you.

WOODWARD: Chair, we have 24 seconds left.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Do we have any more speaker cards?

WOODWARD: We do. Do you want to continue?

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: One more? Well, by the time they get up here, it'll be --
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WOODWARD: Cathrine -- it looks like Capotto -- | can't read this.

CAPOZZI: | can do it in eight seconds. Good evening. My name is Catherine Capozzi. |
live at 15329 East Walnut Lane, Fountain Hills. I'm an Arizona native and resident of
Fountain Hills for ten years.

My -- maybe | can't do it in eight seconds. | want to talk about the wildlife. Currently,
there's no proper assessments that's been done. In addition, there are lots of coyotes,
javelinas, which would be a big issue. In addition, my daughters ride their bikes all the
time. So they make no mistake about the issues with the traffic. It is incredibly risky. |
am very concerned about the numbers of houses that would go up. So | really ask that
you consider that. Also, there are federally endangered species that also need to be in
check and looked at in terms of the wash and the impact there. So that's all I'll say.
Thank you.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. This will close the public hearing.

And Commissioners, any further comments?

MCDERMOTT: | think, Ashley, could you address anything related to the wildlife
hazards? | was just curious. Did you check the IPAC database and -- to see if there's any
threatened, endangered species in the area?

MARSH: Through the Chair. Thank you for that question. So we did do an initial impact
environmental assessment with our due diligence. That's very typical to do. We are
preserving 11 acres of open space for wildlife. So we do hear those concerns and we'd
be hard pressed not to acknowledge those, but there's 11 acres of open space available
that is direct result of wildlife considerations as well.

MCDERMOTT: Any protected habitat or anything?

MARSH: Through the Chair. | do not believe we found any protected habitat.
MCDERMOTT: Okay.

CORRIGAN: Ashley, | think you presented earlier to us and the audience, the public, a
traffic study. That traffic study was done by a traffic engineer or -- okay. So this study, |
think there's a footnote on the bottom, average rates were calculated by dividing total

trips generated using regression equation by the number of dwelling units. So I'm
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assuming that's a scientific study?

MARSH: Through the Chair, correct. So CivTech commissioned this study. | just
extrapolated the chart for you so you could read it, but a traffic engineer went ahead
and did these counts for us. They're -- the notations on the side in the blue are my
napkin math with the reduction in density. But the slide before this is all generated by
CivTech Don Carter. She is one of the most well respected traffic engineers in the State.
CORRIGAN: Oh thank you, Chair.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Commissioner Proctor.

PROCTOR: Yeah. Amlon? There |l am. Thank you, Commissioner Corrigan. You stole
one of my questions, but | do have a second.

Councilor, thank you for your presentation. One of the comments was made about the
MPOA. Are there any legal issues between Toll and MPOA, and the development of a
new HOA?

MARSH: Through the Chair. Thank you for bringing that up. And | have a slide here.
I'm not sure it will let me get to it. Let me see. We are not subject to the MPOA. |
appreciate that question. And I've got an excerpt of our amendment to the declaration
from the 1970s, again. There is a mapping error on the MPOAs website we have
provided this document to the MPOA that we are not part of the MPOA.

PROCTOR: And did they respond?

MARSH: We've had some back and forth correspondence with the MPOA. We believe
that we are not part of the MPOA. We've had the title and we've had title attorney
review that that is not my wheelhouse. | stick with colors on maps, but we've provided
them all the documentation that they've requested and had a couple back and forths
with them. We haven't heard anything back from them.

PROCTOR: Thank you.

MARSH: Thank you. And through the Chair, I'm happy to provide additional points as
you see fit or answer questions. I've got some rebuttal slides as well.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Yeah. Does it make sense to us to have an amendment to the traffic

study done to see -- to propose mitigation of the blind curves that feed your
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development?

MARSH: Chair, thank you for that question. So we are not required to do a traffic study,
and | bring this to your attention. These are requirements for PAD. We've heard
reference for we're required to do a traffic study required to do a traffic study. That is
when you were seeking these type of documents for what's called a plan area
development. That is, create your own zoning district, for lack of a better description.
This site was always envisioned to be a school site when it was platted. I've showed the
traffic volumes. It's for additional consideration of much larger traffic volumes when
this site was designed.

That said, we are happy to continue to work with the town on additional mitigation
measures, and we have proposed one striping proposal, for lack of a better description.
We're happy to continue to work with the town to that effect. If you don't mind, Chair,
I've actually drafted a stipulation that would require us to keep working with Public
Works on striping and signage along the frontage of Aspen Drive, extending east to
Golden Eagle. We do feel that sidewalk extension is going to get pedestrians off that
blind curve, so to speak.

So we feel like that's a step in the right direction. And we're happy to keep working with
Public Works on that. And I'm happy to pass around a stipulation for this Commission's
consideration that would require us to keep working with Public Works.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: But | -- where we've heard over and over again tonight about the
unsafe conditions regarding the blind curves. How -- and you've been so receptive and |
appreciate that, to the neighborhood's concerns, but | haven't heard that one
addressed. And that just seems like it's not a difficult fix.

MARSH: Chair, thank you very much for that feedback. We agree. And we've proposed
a sign striping plan to the town that has not been received. We've studied the geometry
of that. The geometry fits the town's requirements for the road. It's the town's road.
We are happy to work with additional striping. We're happy to work with additional
signage of that. We're happy to address ongoing existing concerns.

Again, I've got a stipulation that we will continue to work with Public Works. We've
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already put forth one proposal. We are extending a sidewalk, so we're definitely doing
what we can, working with those existing conditions. And again, I'm happy to address
this. This road was designed for much bigger volumes for a school site. It's in the
general plan designated as school site. It isin the plat as a school site. The town has
designed this road to accommodate a school site. We're at much lower volumes than
that, and we're happy to continue working on any siting or striping that the town will
allow us to do. But at the end of the day, it's their road.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: And -- | understand. So John -- and | think John just exited. John,
How do we get how do we get Public Works to acknowledge this is a problem, that the
neighbors feel this is a problem that we need to address?

WESLEY: Chair, Commissioners, | was just pondering how to respond to that potential
qguestion. I'm not sure I've gotten quite there yet, but a little bit of discussion | have had
with the engineering staff, they are aware of it. The proposal that was put in for the
striping. It was not one that they were willing to move forward with, as far as |
understand, at this point. But I'm sure they'll be willing to work with the applicant as we
go through the planning processes to see what solutions can work at this particular
location. A stipulation -- excuse me -- a stipulation on the zoning that they proceed with
that prior to getting to Town Council, | think is a viable solution. And by the time we get
to town council, hopefully we can have those alternatives ready for the Council to
consider.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. Thank you.

PROCTOR: Yeah. Just a just a quick question. That blind curve existed well before Toll
Brothers came along. It's always been a problem. My question is, will the

development -- the proposed development by Toll exacerbate that blind curve make it
worse?

MARSH: Through the Chair, thank you for that question. No, we've studied the
geometry. We do not believe that that condition is exacerbated. We are working with
existing conditions. | put the volumes up here again. Again, this street has been

designed, has been planned as a future school site to accommodate a lot bigger
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volumes, we are going to have minimal impact to this curve.

We understand. We appreciate the community's concern. We are offering a stipulation
to continue to work with Public Works on that. But to your point, Commissioner, this is
an existing geometry we're working within as well. And this is a much less intense than
any use than -- any other site plans. Thank you.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: So | have one more question. So what's what stipulations are on
the table, including the Public Works stipulation?

MARSH: Thank you, Chair. So we are prepared to make sure we get this resolved, right?
That's the end of the day, we want to get this resolved. So we have a stipulation
prepared that we shall work with Public Works on striping and signage along the
frontage of Aspen Drive, extending east towards Golden Eagle. So from our frontage
out to the main road.

And then | also have another stipulation here regarding that sidewalk extension that we
had shown. And I'm happy to distribute copies to your Commission, through Ms.
Woodward, if appropriate, with two stipulations to require that sidewalk extension and
to continue working with Public Works on signing and striping for the remaining piece of
that road.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: And we have -- but we have three other stipulations.

MARSH: Correct. So a total of --

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: So 25 lots in accordance with the site plan, single-story and the set
aside of the nondevelopable area.

MARSH: Correct.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: So that that's five stipulations.

I'm sorry. Yeah -- I'm sorry. The public portion of the hearing is closed.

So there are five stipulations.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Director Wesley.

WESLEY: Chair, | would suggest that the one regarding Public Works be stated a little bit
more broadly than just signage and striping. There may be other solutions that might be

envisioned, besides those two. And | would -- also I'm not sure exactly of the wording. |
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haven't read what Ashley has, but that resolutions be prepared to present to the Town
Council.

So if for whatever reason, we don't feel like we get there by the date of the hearing,
then that hearing would need to be continued. At that point, we do have solutions.
CHAIR KOVACEVIC: | still I want to get the -- | want to get the stipulations right. So
maybe we should see the stipulation you prepared. Do you have a copy for all the all
the Commissioners?

MARSH: And Chair, we're happy to revise that to traffic mitigation to incorporate a
broader swoop, as Mr. Wesley said. | can hand it to you if you want.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: And while she's handing it out, Commissioner Sveum.

SVEUM: | regardless of what happens with this -- regardless of what happens with this,
the area needs to -- traffic needs to be addressed.

There's Council members, there's the Mayor, people are here. | think that that Public
Works needs to address this, because it is obviously a problem. There's got to be a
solution to it. This is increasing traffic by such a small amount, but if there's a problem,
it should be addressed. And Toll Brothers is willing to work on whatever they can. But |
think it is a -- it's a -- it's a town issue that you have every right to ask about this. It's an
aside to this project, frankly. But it is a -- it is obviously a problem that needs to be
addressed. So I'd encourage you to, if you can't get -- look, if you can't get action from
Public Works, then go to a different level. Maybe you can get someone's ear to address
your problem.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Anybody else? Okay. Then we're ready for a motion. | -- again,
there are five stipulations. In addition to the R1-10a and | would like to make sure
traffic mitigation is added to the Public Works stipulation. So it's the Public Works
Department on striping, signage, and traffic mitigation along the frontage of Aspen
Drive, extending east to Golden Eagle Boulevard.

And do we do we need to go over the five stipulations again?

PROCTOR: Chair, | think to be clear, we should, just to -- | mean, we have it written

down. If | could try a review.
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One is a note, shall be included on the final plat, limiting homes to one story.

Second, a note shall be included on the final plat that would establish a nondevelopable
area for the area defined by the regulatory floodplain and erosion setback limits.

And the two stipulations that Toll has given us. For striping, Toll Brothers shall work
with Public Works department on striping and or signage and traffic mitigation along the
frontage of Aspen Drive, extending east to Golden Eagle Boulevard. And secondly, Toll
Brothers shall work with the Public Works Department regarding extending the sidewalk
along the frontage of Aspen Drive East, approximately 136ft on the town-owned
property. I'm missing any others?

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: 25 lots.

PROCTOR: 25 lots. Yes.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: So those --

PROCTOR: It would not be 29, would be 25.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Correct. 25 lots. So those are the five stipulations. Okay.
PROCTOR: Well Chair, if you will, I'll make a motion. I'll try to get through this. | move
that the Commission approve the rezone of approximately 20 acres, located
approximately 600 feet south of the southeast corner of Golden Eagle Boulevard and
Nyack Drive from our R1-35 to our 110. A to allow development of 25 single family
residential lots subject to the conditions | previously said. Can | get away with that?
CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Does that work for you, Paula?

WOODWARD: Yes. That's fine.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay.

WOODWARD: | do have a question though. Is the traffic mitigation part of this added
to the five?

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Yes, yes, it's part of the --

SVEUM: Stipulations.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: -- of the stipulation on striping, signage, and traffic mitigation along
the frontage. I'm looking for a second.

MCDERMOTT: I'll second the motion.
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CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. Can we have a roll call vote, please. Oh. Oh, do you want. --
Okay.

SVEUM: Thank you, Chair. | guess there was someone that mentioned that we had
already made up our mind, that these recommendations were -- that did not come from
this body. It comes from staff. I'm not throwing them under the bus. I'm just telling
you that we are a commission that is working with the planning department and them
providing us opportunities that people bring forward to them. And we make decisions
based on facts that are provided to us. And that's where -- that's where it came from.
So there's no conclusions before, that were made. Obviously, we've had a lot of
material to read that's provided some great, great information for us as well to review.
We also don't make decisions based on price. If Toll Brothers wanted to come in here
and build condos for $350,000 on, on R1-10, we would probably address it the same
way. You wouldn't be happy about that. My experience is brand new neighborhoods
that are contingent are adjacent to existing neighborhoods, tend to help prices go up,
because they can build for what your home is worth. It's going to be higher in price.
The traffic again, the traffic counts, there'll be -- there'll be addressed. But | mainly
wanted to | just wanted to say that these conclusions that we draw are made from
information that's provided to us, testimony that's given from you, the applicant. It's
not predetermined. So | -- this is great having all of the information, all the input. But |
think we've made a -- we're making a decision based on everything that I've just said.
So | think that's worth it.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Thank you. Commissioner Schlossberg, did you have something to
say?

SCHLOSSBERG: No.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Roll call, vote, please.

WOODWARD: Okay. Roll call vote. Commissioner Proctor.

PROCTOR: Aye.

WOODWARD: Commissioner Sveum.

SVEUM: Aye.
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WOODWARD: Commissioner Schlossberg.

SCHLOSSBERG: Aye.

WOODWARD: Commissioner Corrigan.

CORRIGAN: Aye.

WOODWARD: Commissioner McDermott.

MCDERMOTT: Aye.

WOODWARD: Chair Kovacevic.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Aye.

WOODWARD: Six-zero.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Moving on to regular agenda. You want to take a break? Okay.
John, we're going to take five. Okay.

WESLEY: Take five.

[CROSS TALK]

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. All right. Okay. Item C, public hearing with consideration
and possible action relating to ordinance 26-02, amending the Zoning Ordinance.
Chapter 27 Downtown Overlay Section 27.02A, related to permitted density for
residential development.

WESLEY: Chair, thank you very much. That's probably half the report right there in that
title.

So just very quickly, because we've talked about this before, you've already had a long
evening. But as we have developed the new downtown overlay ordinance a few months
ago, taking that to Town Council, as they were considering the actual rezoning, they -- a
guestion came up about the allowed density in the overlay, currently set at 35 units per
acre. So this was on your January 12th meeting as a public hearing. There's some
discussion that night about some other related concerns with the downtown and how
it's designed and working, as well as the density question itself. And it was continued to
tonight's meeting for further review and discussion.

Since then, I've had discussions with the Chair and member of the Plateau 8 Board and

committee, and gotten some of their input on what's possible and not possible in this
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area. And basically, any redevelopment of the parking lots is virtually impossible. It's
jointly owned by all the owners, and the decision making required to do anything
differently in those parking areas will make that, again, virtually impossible to make any
changes there. And we do need to move forward with making a recommendation with
regard to the density.

You've had the public hearing, started back at your January meeting. You've got 90 days
to move forward. That will be prior to your next meeting.

So there are constraints. There were some concerns about how much density could
actually happen, how much residential could really happen. Maybe that will overpower
the commercial uses that we desire to see. But again, the avenue district itself will not
allow does not allow any residential on the ground floor. It'll always have to remain
nonresidential uses in that area. In the business district, you can have ground floor
residential only through approval of a special use permit.

So again, the commission, the council have control over how much of that area would
ever become residential on a ground floor. So you have the ability there to maintain the
commercial and other nonresidential uses that are desired in the district. And the
innovation district on the north end doesn't have any residential by right. It's all
through special use permit, and has no -- the minimum densities that we're trying to get
in the rest of the area.

So maximum height of 40 feet. So again, you're not going to get tall buildings with lots
of residential. Again, the common open space areas provide the parking -- won't be
developed.

So we looked at this last time as we were trying to come to the numbers. If we use
Verde River and Avenue of the Fountains is a center point, and join the circle for the
typical kind of walk area, the kind of that downtown mixed-use area we're trying to
create. Studies say we should have someplace between 12 to 15,000 per square mile.
Again, that's a much larger area.

So we bring that down to this area, we're looking at someplace between 750 and 900

dwelling units within this area. There's currently about 350. So adding 4- to 500 more
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dwelling units overall throughout this area.

The main discussion point here has been with regard to the overlay with the plateau
eight, which are these four blocks centered on Verde River and Parkview. Each of these
blocks is right around 11 acres in size. A lot of it is taken up in the parking. There are
about 21 acres of platted lots within here. Of that, about half are still vacant at 11.5
acres of vacant land that can be built upon.

So the densities, if we'd like to see someplace around 300 dwelling units within plateau
eight over time. So looking at the options here at 15 units per acre. If all of the
buildable area were built with residential at 15 units per acre, you could get close to
that. But when you look at just the number of vacant lots, you're at 88 units and just
filling in the vacant lot. So going out from there at 25 and 35 and 45 units per acre, just
giving you kind of that range to look at for discussion purposes from last meeting. You
can see what, what the totals might be.

So at 45 units per acre and all the vacant lots being built on with residential at that
density, we're still a little bit below what we'd kind of like to see in the area. It's -- most
of the developed lots are not likely to redevelop. Some will. Well, we've seen that
already with coming back the Belvedere across the street. And I'll mention that again
here in a minute. Developed building came back and added commercial or added
residential. And another one further down on the avenue.

So it will happen. It has happened, but we won't see all of the existing lots redeveloped
with residential. And not all the vacant lots will develop with residential. We've been
talking to some owners of some lots that are looking at development that do not include
residential, but a couple other we've been talking to recently are looking at that
combination.

So again, we'll see a mix. Continue to see a mix of uses throughout the area. One of the
points that was made at the last meeting is when you look at a typical multifamily
development, you'll see the density is also spread over the parking and the open space,
and so forth. That goes and makes up that total development.

Here, we've been focusing on just the buildable lots themselves, at the densities. When
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we translate that into an entire block, that includes then all the all the common parking,
which would be more typical how we would calculate density. That 15 units per acre
becomes 6.7 units per acre, and 25 becomes 10.6, and the and the 35 becomes 15, and
the 45 becomes 20.9. So comparatively, that's still, even at the 45, that is less than what
the R4 and R5 densities allow when done in a more typical development fashion.

Again, some examples across the street here on Avenue of the Fountains you recently
looked at and approved the Bondi project, six units on 12,000 square feet, so 21 units
per acre. Prior to that, you had looked at, but it didn't proceed on to council, a similar
plan but had was double that at 12 units, so 43 units per acre. Belvedere suites across
the street 38 units. Small project down the street next to Sofritas has four units on the
2500 square feet, so 69 units per acre. The development agreement for Park Place is at
45 units per acre.

So with that, looking at what the needs are for the downtown area, how it translates
into the gross density across a full block. Staff believes that the 35 units per acre that
has previously been approved is a good density for the downtown as that, by right,
because when you start putting hurdles, you got to come through, get the special use
permit, use great challenges to the market and keeping it moving forward. And so we
want to try to encourage these things to happen.

So we're recommending keeping the 35 but amending the language to set a maximum
overall of a block at 15 units per acre, just on the outside chance that somehow
somebody does acquire all the lots and acquires all the parking area. We're not going to
get something more than what we really bargained for intended for the area.

We do have John GURZCAK from -- use your name -- from the Plateau 8 board here this
evening, available to talk and answer questions you may have about plateau eight and
how they've looked at this and their comments. Any questions for me at this time?
CHAIR KOVACEVIC: |do, | have a question. What's the basis for the 35-unit
recommendation as opposed to 45 or --

WESLEY: Chair, looking at these numbers, | can see where you came before the 45. And

staff would not oppose that. But knowing that the council sent it here with the idea it
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was going to be reduced, didn't know that | wanted to propose it going up. But certainly
if the Commission, as you stated that and believe that's what should happen, we'd be
glad to take that back to the council.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Councilor Sveum.

SVEUM: John, you say it's virtually impossible to get all of the owners or the -- what's
the percentage, again, for approving a change or modification to the parking?

WESLEY: Two thirds, 66 percent.

SVEUM: Two thirds.

WESLEY: | believe that's correct.

GURZCAK: Yeah, and for something like this, it might require even more.

WESLEY: Would you like to come up?

GURZCAK: Yeah.

WESLEY: John can answer as a member of the board. He can answer that better.
GURZCAK: Yeah. So the minimum would be 66 percent. But for some kind of major
change like that | would anticipate it probably might even be including everyone. And
there's over 100 owners and 130 something different lots in that. So there's really very,
very unlikely chance that that could ever happen with all this.

SVEUM: What determines whether you need two thirds or ten percent?

GURZCAK: I'm not sure that would be. That would be a question for the attorney, for
the for the tract, but the minimum would be two thirds, as far as | know.

SVEUM: Have you ever seen what could be done with those parking lots? | mean, has
there been any kind of a presentation made to the board about what could be done
with those parking lots to enhance them and still not impact or decrease the number of
parking stalls?

GURZCAK: | mean, right now we are working on trying to do covered parking. It's in the
beginning stages of that. Besides that, we haven't pursued any other --

SVEUM: What do you mean, covered parking? Like a ramp or what?

GURZCAK: No. Well, no. We're working on getting covered. Parking in the middle

sections of the blocks.
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SVEUM: Okay.

GURZCAK: It's a proposal right now.

SVEUM: So there's never been a redevelopment idea put in front of the board on --
GURZCAK: No, no, no, there's just there's too many owners, and you're restricted to
where you're to where your current lot lines are, and that's and that's it. And every
owner has a has a share of the -- of the parking, you know, a 1/132 or whatever the
total number is.

SVEUM: Okay. Thanks.

GURZCAK: I'd like to answer any other questions.

CORRIGAN: You would? Sorry. Follow up question. And I'm not trying to be coy or
evasive or anything like that. You said, | think. Did you say there's 137 owners?
GURZCAK: | think there's 100 owners, but | think there's 130 something parcels.
CORRIGAN: Okay. And again, I'm not trying to be difficult. How do you get consensus
from all of that group? | mean, do you get --

GURZCAK: A lot of that stuff -- | mean, a lot of the stuff the board just handles. But to
do any kind of major change like that or redevelopment, that would, that would require
a huge -- a huge vote.

CORRIGAN: Okay. Thank you.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Anybody else? Thank you.

SVEUM: Yeah. | have a question for John.

John, is the restriction on first floor in the on the Ave still -- it's still not formalized or
approved yet, as far as restricting the use?

WESLEY: Chair, Commissioner. Yes. The ordinance has been approved. And is there
ready to be applied, but the actual rezoning of the property to apply it has been put on
hold, pending the outcome of this process here to possibly adjust the density allowance.
SVEUM: So a vacant service -- that was a service company, is gone. As of right now, the
property owner could lease it to whoever they wanted.

WESLEY: Correct.

SVEUM: But when this goes into effect, it'll have to be an entity that pays sales tax
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basically?

WESLEY: Right. Active retail, commercial entertainment type activity. Yes.

SVEUM: And that's that was a change from what we decided as a body. And the council
decided that not even an SUP was a possibility. Correct?

WESLEY: Correct.

SVEUM: Right. | continue to have a problem with that, a significant problem. Property
owners will experience a devaluation of their property if their -- if their space on first
floor becomes vacant and they can't lease it, because nobody can afford to put a
restaurant in it. And I think that -- | think that SUP, I'm -- maybe somebody way in the
back can hear me say, | hope that comes back to reverse it.

And it doesn't -- it doesn't just treat the property owner poorly, but it also -- the lender
has a collateral issue because the property is not going to be worth as much if it's
vacant, and they are restricted to what type of tenant they can put in there. So I really
hope this comes back to us, or comes back to the Council and has there's some more
discussion about the downside of doing that.

It's all great, if you can fill it all with restaurants and drinking establishments and sales
tax paying entities, but the likelihood of that, for many reasons, is unlikely. So | think
there's needs to be some more discussion. | hope there will be at some point in time
before this is all finalized.

And frankly, I'm going to vote against this, whatever density we come up with,

because -- just kind of out of protest, | don't -- | don't believe we should be proceeding
with this until there is some, some change or some more discussion about that major
problem. | probably am talking off -- | shouldn't be because it's not on the agenda. Is
that why? Okay. That's my point.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Anybody else? And | do want to piggyback -- | just want to
piggyback on to that and that I've said all along there should be a market study for the
downtown area, that | don't know that there's enough business to support a downtown
area of strictly retail and restaurant entertainment. And there should -- | recommended

that to begin with, and | do believe there should be some sort of market study that tells
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us how much of the space -- how much space should be dedicated, can be dedicated
and can reasonably be expected to be successful in those businesses.

But that having been said, if Council wants a density will give them a density. So that's
the question on the table.

Gentlemen -- oh, do we have speaker cards on this, Paula?

WOODWARD: We do, Chair. We have two speaker cards. The first speaker is Crystal
Cavanaugh, and the second speaker will be Larry Meyers.

CAVANAUGH: Hello, Crystal Cavanaugh, Fountain Hills resident. In the staff report, it
said retail follows rooftops, as well, it also said population and population density is
needed to attract business.

The staff report indicated bringing 300 more apartments to the downtown plat 208 area
alone, and that would be in addition to whatever ends up being built at the Park Place
Corner. Downtown apartments could easily attract part-time residents, which isn't
great for our sales tax. And how are we so sure that one major developer wouldn't buy
them up in a block?

Your approval of that density would exclude any possibility of the unique type of
entertainment and restaurant districts such as Old Town Gilbert or Cave Creek have,
both of which are marketed as destinations that are actually fun.

There is so much traffic on Shea that we are currently widening the roads. Eventually,
316 more apartments will sit in the target lot. How many more apartments do we need
to support business? And I'm fully aware of the retail component that's required
downtown on the first floors. But Fountain Hills shops do not stay open late, and don't
bring in the type of sales tax as does entertainment and restaurant bars. And with the
residential up above, this limits the types of business you attract on the first floor.
Changing the remainder of plat 208 to bring more apartments doesn't fit the vision of
many who choose to live in Fountain Hills.

Like | said at the council, rooftop restaurants and bars and scenic Fountain Hills should
be a goal. A district, unique Western themes like Buffalo Bills and Colo or Cave Creek,

for example, a nice steakhouse with craft cocktails downtown would be popular, if done
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right.

| mean, we have a dark Sky Discovery Center coming, bringing visitors. Seek out
businesses that complement that with telescopes on rooftops or alien entrees and
cocktails. Be creative. Make Fountain Hills a destination stop. We can't just keep doing
it piecemeal.

But that can't happen if you allow this open land to become all apartments. We are
already surrounded by apartments in the downtown area. Are they supporting the
existing businesses? When I'm out spending money in Fountain Hills, which | am
frequently, | primarily meet homeowners for the most part, so I'm not buying that this
type of growth is helping.

Limited, smaller apartment builds, like the one approved next to Zab Thai are generally
not a problem. But enough is enough. Stop changing the makeup of Fountain Hills with
all these apartments. Think outside the box and become a destination location that
actually does bring vibrancy and sales tax. Thanks.

MEYERS: Larry Meyers, resident, 44 years.

Chair, Commissioners, | second what Crystal said because essentially the downtown is
the last spot in Fountain Hills to actually accomplish something, and to rezone it so that
we can have a bunch of apartments, more apartments, will take away the last spot. We
struggle with -- we struggle because we've rezoned ourselves out of any chance for a
corporate headquarters. We can rezone ourselves out of any chance for any type of fun
zone. My term, the fun zone. You can't stick apartments over top of anything that's fun
because it makes noise, and the people that live up there would have a complaint. |
would, if | -- if | did, and | wanted to go to bed at 9.

So this business where we take a bunch of apartments, but we allow something on the
first floor and then I'm with I'm with Commissioner Sveum. | don't know that you can
tell a landowner what the heck they can do with their land, in terms of what kind of
tenant they can put in there. What you can do is allow the zoning so that it encourages
the type of activity that Crystal Cavanaugh spoke about, and then actually have a staff,

and a commission, and a council that supports that vision and not only supports the
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vision, but goes out and does something about it.

Because if you don't have a goal and actually work towards it as a unit, a cohesive unit
where everybody has the same vision, you will never get there. Which is why plat 208
remains what it is, because there's never been that. And there isn't that now, and just a
mere discussion of having a density like that and thinking, oh, we'll get some
apartments. Sorry, Mr. Garzak [sic].

Apartments are not going to solve any of the things that this town longs for, especially
sales tax revenue. Those people aren't here all year long. I'm here all year long. | know
who lives in those apartments. | don't care whether they're 92 percent filled, because
there are only 92 percent filled 40 percent of the year.

So | say the density isn't the issue tonight. It's get a vision. And Peter Gray said it. We
keep dipping our toe, but we never really accomplish anything because we don't have a
cohesive vision.

So | would encourage everybody, keep the density low, figure it out. Don't try and tell
landowners what they can and can't do with their with their downstairs. It won't work.
Thank you.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Any more public speakers?

WOODWARD: No, Chair. That was it.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. We'll close the public hearing. Any comments?
MCDERMOTT: So what would the density be then, if it -- what is it written as right now?
If it if the motion is to change it to 35 or 45, what is it today?

WESLEY: Chair, Commissioner McDermott. Today it's 35 units per acre.

MCDERMOTT: Oh, today is 35.

WESLEY: Yes.

MCDERMOTT: Okay.

WESLEY: But the Town Council, based on some comments made at the public hearing
requested that it be reconsidered by the PNC commission to potentially lower it down
to something less, maybe around 15.

MCDERMOTT: Okay. Okay.
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CHAIR KOVACEVIC: But the one thing that -- when we say 35, it's 35 for the buildable
lot --

WESLEY: Not the block.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: -- which, when you factor in all of the parking, if you were to
maximize, if you were to have 30 -- say it was 35 and you did that around the block, it
winds up being 15 --

WESLEY: Right.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: -- when you include the common area.

WESLEY: Yep.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay.

MCDERMOTT: New guy question. Sorry.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. Anybody else?

CORRIGAN: Thank you, Chair. | raised it before | think maybe back in January. But this
idea about using a winner or a leader or a successful town as a model is, | think, a pretty
good idea. If somebody is doing something in Cave Creek that is bringing revenue, sales
tax, into town, maybe we ought to study that community. If it's Gilbert, if it's wherever.
And | don't know if that that is to be borne by Planning and Zoning or economic
development or the council. But | think it would be a good a good idea. As Crystal
Cavanaugh said, as Larry Meyers said, to have a vision, to have a goal. And maybe it
isn't based on, you know, apartments. Maybe it's based on another factor that might
bring revenue, that's our goal, downtown. That's my thought on it.

SVEUM: So thanks. So as I've been contemplating my opinion and my philosophy, I've
been talking with nonprofit development opportunities either through ASU or ULI. ULI
reminded me that there was, back in 2010, a community -- Larry Meyers, you were
probably on the involved in all of this. It came up with ten recommendations from the
Fountain Hills, AZ tap. Not the tap house, but the tap and it's | don't know where it's
lost somewhere. This is probably one of -- probably maybe there's several of these that
have gone on over the years.

But | think there needs to be some design work and collaborative effort with the People
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living here, live downtown, don't live downtown, to have some input and be dedicated
to look into this carefully. And if it -- if it is something that's of interest to the town,
then to be involved in making sure that it gets done, because a lot of these things do
collect dust.

Let's face it. Market studies, | think it's important, but I've seen plenty of those over the
years kind of sit on the shelf and really don't get executed. And that's the important
part. We lose -- we lose that execution.

So whatever happens with this density issue, fine, but | think there's a -- I'm still going to
try to reach out and find an outlet of some interest of those that might help with some
design capabilities that -- for the town to consider. And if there's not support for it,
there won't be support.

| wouldn't give -- | wouldn't give up on plat 208, | just wouldn't give up on it. | mean,
that's it's such a vital part of the, the community in downtown. There's got to be
something that at some point in time that will click with at least two thirds of the
owners, maybe not, but | think it's important enough to continue to look into, again,
whether this density issue goes through tonight. If it's that important, maybe you ought
to try to vote on it, | guess.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Well, I think that's our mission tonight, is it not? | mean, it's strictly
to consider the density to send back to Council, correct?

WESLEY: Yes, chair. That's the direction that Council has asked for your input on.
CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Yeah. So we're not reconsidering the overlay, reconsidering any of
the language, we're strictly considering density.

WESLEY: Correct.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: And staff's recommendation is 35 units an acre for the -- for the lots
and but in a -- yeah, 15 units an acre for an entire block.

WESLEY: Correct.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. So Commissioners, anybody want to make a motion, make a
recommendation to anybody? Any debate on what the number should be?

PROCTOR: Are you looking at my direction for some? Yeah. | will make a motion before
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| make a motion. | share Phil's and -- concerns -- the speakers. What's frustrating to me
is there's so much potential, but we don't have a roadmap on how to get there. Now, I'll
fall back on, you know, a pet thing that | love, a performing arts center. We need
something like Ms. Cavanaugh said, we have the Discovery Center that's going to bring
all kinds of people in. School groups. We need another hook to bring people in. Once
you have those hooks, you're going to have requirements for housing, and then we can
approach it that way.

But we need another hook, like the Discovery Center Performing arts center, maybe
one -- STEM research educational center that goes alongside of the Discovery Center,
where we have nothing but STEM education. Could be another hook where we bring
people in. But just nibbling around the edges, like, | feel like we're doing tonight is kind
of frustrating.

But with that said I'll move that. We recommend adoption of ordinance 2602.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. We have a motion. Do we have a second?

MCDERMOTT: I'll second it.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Any further discussion?

Paula, can we have a roll call?

WOODWARD: Commissioner Proctor?

PROCTOR: Yes.

WOODWARD: Commissioner Sveum.

SVEUM: No.

WOODWARD: Commissioner Schlossberg.

SCHLOSSBERG: No.

WOODWARD: Commissioner Corrigan.

CORRIGAN: Permission to explain my vote, Chair.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Go ahead.

CORRIGAN: First of all, I don't think basing our downtown development on the number
of lots -- per square footage, per capita use of apartments. | don't think that's the way

to judge it. And | think we ought to reconsider this. I'm not going to say table the
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motion, because it's too late for that. We have a we have a motion. We have a second.
And I'm just forced to say no, I'm just going to vote no.

WOODWARD: Commissioner McDermott.

MCDERMOTT: No. No.

WOODWARD: Didn't you make a recommendation for approval?

MCDERMOTT: For the second? Yeah. So | have to go to the second, right? Right?
WOODWARD: Yeah. You can still vote no.

MCDERMOTT: Yeah, | vote no.

WOODWARD: Okay.

MCDERMOTT: Because the second -- or the second is --

WOODWARD: Sure.

WOODWARD: Chair Kovacevic.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Aye.

WOODWARD: Okay. We have two-four.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Okay. Thank you.

Director, if it's okay with you, I'd like to continue the remaining item on the agenda. So
we can move to call to the public.

WESLEY: Okay.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Do we have any speaker cards for call to the public?

WOODWARD: No, Chair.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Commission discussion, direction to the director. Anybody have
anything for John?

SCHLOSSBERG: | do.

Hey, John. We touched on this back in the -- | don't want to talk about signage ever
again, but | kind of have to in this particular situation. But we talked about signage and
enforcement of the signage, and | actually made the comment, we were talking about
how many one and a half staff people there are to enforce it. And | said, well, | beg to
differ because | don't think it's being enforced. And it really -- | know it's not being

enforced. And I'm speaking from my office building, which is kind of maybe an outlier,
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but we have signage which | know has not been approved through the town, that's up
on the building, causing my building to look -- | mean, honestly, looks like the ghetto.
And I've got some pictures that | can show you. So I'm just asking personally if we can
get one of the code enforcement guys to slip by and say, either take it down or get it
permitted. That's my request. Thanks.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Anything else for John?

Okay. Future agenda items.

WESLEY: So from the staff side, we'll have the discussion of the mural ordinance at your
next meeting. Anticipating also that we would have a text amendment dealing with
community residences on your next agenda. Are you aware of any others?

Oh, okay. Yes. We have an SOP also that we would expect to be on your next agenda.
So we do have another busy meeting for you next month, it looks like.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: I'll take a motion to adjourn.

PROCTOR: So moved.

SVEUM: Second.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Allin favor?

ALL: Aye.

CHAIR KOVACEVIC: Six-zero.
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Having no further business, Chair Kovacevic adjourned the Regular Meeting of the Planning
and Zoning Commission held on March 9, 2026, at 8:32 p.m.

TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS

Dan Kovacevic, Chairperson

ATTEST AND PREPARED BY:

Paula Woodward, Executive Assistant

CERTIFICATION

| hereby certify that the foregoing minutes are a true and correct copy of the
minutes of the Regular Meeting held by the Planning & Zoning Commission of
Fountain Hills in the Town Hall Council Chambers on the 9th of March 2026. |
further certify that the meeting was duly called and that a quorum was present.

DATED this 13th Day of April 2026.

Paula Woodward, Executive Assistant
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ITEM 7.b.
TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS

STAFF REPORT
Meeting Date: 4/13/2026
Meeting Type: Planning and Zoning Commission Regular Meeting
Submitting Department:  Development Services / Planning
Prepared by: Farhad Tavassoli, Senior Planner

Staff Contact Information: Phone: 480-816-5139
Email: ftavassoli@fountainhillsaz.gov

Request to Town Council Regular Meeting (Agenda Language)
PUBLIC HEARING, with CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Relating to a
SPECIAL USE PERMIT to allow up to six (6) residential units on a 6,000 square-foot
property generally located 150 feet west of the southwest corner of Saguaro Blvd and
Parkview Ave. (16865 E. Parkview Ave.; APN#176-06-099) in the C-2 (Intermediate
Commercial) zoning district.

Staff Summary (background)
This request is for development on a 6,000 sq. ft. lot on Parkview Avenue, west of Saguaro
Blvd. The area was originally plated in 1971 as Plat 208, and the boundaries of the subject
property has since remained unchanged. The property is zoned C-2 (Intermediate
Commercial) and is also within the Planned Shopping Plaza and Entertainment Overlay
Districts.

The applicant requests a Special Use Permit to construct a three-story, mixed-use building
consisting of approximately 1,000 square feet of ground-floor commercial space and six (6)
residential units above. Each residential unit is configured as two-bedroom, two-bath layouts
ranging from approximately 1,300 to 1,400 square feet, with private balconies and central
stair/elevator access. Each residential unit will include a private, one-car garage accessed
from the rear of the property via the internal Tract 208 circulation network. These garages are
designed to reduce demand on shared and public parking while providing secure, enclosed
parking for residents. The site is located within the Town Center area, approximately 500 feet
north of the northwest corner of Avenue of the Fountains and Saguaro Blvd.

This property is currently vacant. The lot has a platted 5-foot front yard setback and a 20-foot
rear yard setback. Five existing parking spaces are located on the site and will remain. To
accommodate the proposed 10-foot setback along the south property line, the lot will need to
be replatted to reduce the existing platted setback from 20 feet to the proposed 10 feet. The
garage doors will face west and will be set back 6 feet from the driveway to provide adequate
clearance and ensure maximum visibility of traffic between Parkview Avenue and the
common parking area.

The site has remained undeveloped since it was originally platted in 1971. Consistent with similar
recent proposals in the area, this project introduces a mixed-use component to Plat 208. The
building features a contemporary, desert-appropriate material palette, including a stone veneer
base at the ground level, fiber-cement lap siding, EIFS cladding with decorative reveals, and
aluminum-and-glass storefront systems along the commercial frontage. The upper-level

Meeting Packet Page 61 of 117



residential units incorporate large window openings, metal trim accents, and balcony railings with
glass or cable systems. The overall massing and material selection are intended to create visual
interest along the street frontage while ensuring durability and compatibility with the surrounding
context.

General Plan

e Our Commitment, page 13: Maintain the delicate balance of land uses that make the
Town a desirable place to live, work, enjoy and visit.
e Our Commitment, page 13: Support existing businesses and continue to attract
businesses that stimulate the Town’s economy.
e Our Vision, page 14: Residents enjoy a walkable community that is conducive to civic
involvement and activities.
e Our Vision, page 14: A variety of housing options are available in safe, quiet,
pleasant, and enjoyable neighborhoods.
e Thriving Neighborhoods Goals and Policies, page 23
o Goal 2: Support a housing strategy that encourages a broad range of quality
housing types to address current and future housing needs and to support long-
term economic vitality.
= Policy 1. Encourage a broad range of housing types affordable to all
income ranges and age groups in a manner compatible with adjacent
development.
= Policy 2. Encourage a range of housing types and residential densities
and maintain consistency with the existing character of infill areas in
conformance with criteria provided in Table 1: Character Areas Plan.
= Policy 4. Encourage quality urban, compact, walkable mixed-use
development that complements surrounding uses in the Town Center
and in other areas that may become available for urban development.
= Policy 6. Support quality residential development that meets Town
housing needs, promotes the vitality of established neighborhoods, and
enhances the quality of life of Fountain Hills.

o Goal 4: Attract quality residential development that supports the healthy and active
lifestyle valued by the community.

e Policy 1: Ensure that new neighborhoods:
= a. Sensitively and aesthetically integrate residential development to the social,
built and natural environments by supporting neighborhood connectivity to
Fountain Hills’ Great Places.
= Character Area Goals and Polices, page 38

o Goal 1: Encourage future development, redevelopment and infill in a manner that
will maintain and protect existing neighborhoods, the Town’s economic health,
community well-being, and natural environment.

= Policy 4. Direct commerce and employment to the character areas that sustain
them in conformance with the Character Areas Plan map and Table 1.

o Goal 2: Development, redevelopment and infill support Fountain Hill’s small town
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identity and the distinct character of each area while fostering long term viability.

= Policy 3. Support a mix of residential, employment, and commercial uses at
densities and intensities and in the development form that reflect the small-
Town character of Fountain Hills.

= Policy 5. Strongly encourage a wide range of housing types, densities and prices
to support the current and projected populations (particularly families and
working professionals) and to ensure the future stock of affordable housing for
all income ranges.

This is in the Town Center character area. The General Plan statement for this area is:
"Continue to develop a highly integrated mix of uses to provide a vibrant town center.
Encourage development with an urban form with buildings brought to the street forming a
continuous street wall. Encourage active ground floor uses with a high degree of transparency
and office and residential above."

The 2009 Specific Area Plan for the Avenue District includes the statement: "The Avenue
District is designed to accommodate a degree of other uses including second story office
space, condominiums and small-scale businesses along with limited neighborhood services."

Zoning Ordinance Requirements

The property at 16865 E Parkview Avenue is zoned C-2 (Intermediate Commercial) and is
located within both the Entertainment Overlay District and the Planned Shopping Plaza
Overlay District. While the C-2 zoning district allows a variety of commercial uses by right,
residential uses above the ground floor are permitted through the Special Use Permit process
when located within the Entertainment Overlay if the density is more than 8 dwelling units
per acre. The proposed development includes six (6) residential units (which equals 44 units
per acre) above approximately 1,000 square feet of ground-floor commercial space, consistent
with the intent of the zoning and overlay districts to promote a vibrant, mixed-use downtown.

Per the Fountain Hills Zoning Ordinance:

e Group commercial buildings require 1 parking space per 275 square feet of floor area.
e Multi-family dwellings require 2.25 spaces per unit.

Based on these standards, the proposed mixed-use development would require approximately
18 parking spaces. In contrast, a fully commercial three-story building of similar size would
require approximately 50 spaces. The existing Tract 208 shared parking lot provides sufficient
parking to meet the requirements for this development, as it was originally designed to
accommodate build-out of the subdivision.

In addition, the applicant proposes to accommodate six (6) private garages, each serving one
residential unit. These garages are designed as one-car garages, approximately 24 feet deep,
with access from the rear of the building. The driveway width behind the garages will be
maintained at 26-feet for two-way traffic. This configuration meets the ordinance requirement
for one covered space per unit, and the remaining parking demand can be accommodated
within the shared lot.

Solid waste enclosures are required to be located within 250 walking feet of the main
entrance. The proposed enclosure meets this requirement due to the rear access doors for each
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unit. However, the enclosure is part of the shared Tract 208 facilities and may not have
sufficient capacity for the additional residential and commercial waste. Prior to issuance of a
building permit, the applicant must provide written confirmation from the Tract 208 Property
Owners Association that adequate solid waste service will be provided, or propose an
alternative solution.

Following approval of the special use permit, the applicant will be required to submit a Site
Plan Review application to ensure zoning compliance. Once the site plan is approved, the
applicant must then apply for a building permit.

Citizen Participation

The applicant submitted a citizen participation plan outlining his outreach efforts, which
included sending notification letters to all property owners within 300 feet of the subject site.
The letter described the SUP request and invited recipients to provide comments or concerns
via email, mail, or phone. As of April 2, 2026, the applicant has not received any responses
from neighboring property owners. A copy of the citizen participation plan, along with a
statement confirming that no inquiries were received, is attached to the staff report.

Related Ordinance, Policy or Guiding Principle
Zoning Ordinance Chapter 2, Procedures
Zoning Ordinance Chapter 12, Commercial Zoning Districts
Zoning Ordinance Chapter 25, Entertainment Overlay District
Zoning Ordinance Chapter 26, Planned Shopping Plaza Overlay District

Risk Analysis
N/A

Recommendation(s) by Board(s) or Commission(s)
N/A

Staff Recommendation(s)
Staff supports approval subject to:
1. Approval of a replat for the subject parcel to reflect a 10-foot minimum building setback
from the south property line.
2. Approval of a site plan consistent with the conceptual site and that complies with code
requirements.
3. A letter from Plat 208 addressing the provision of a solid waste enclosure prior to issuance
of a building permit.

Suggested Motion
MOVE to approve the Special Use Permit 26-000001 for up to 6 dwelling units, all residential
units to be on the second and third floors, with the stipulations listed in the staff
recommendation.

FISCAL IMPACT
Fiscal Impact:
Budget Reference:
Funding Source:

ATTACHMENTS
1. Vicinity Map  SUP26-000001
2. REvised narrative 16865 E. Parkview Mixed Use
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S

Revised Conceptual Drawings - 16865 E Parkview
Citizen Participation Plan Parkview (1)

Good Neighbor Statement

Citizen Participation No Responses Letter
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Vicinity Map: SUP26-000001

CASE: SUP26-000001

SITE / ADDRESS:
APN: 176-06-099
16865 E. PARKVIEW AVE

REQUEST: SPECIAL USE PERMIT TO
ALLOW UP TO SIX (6) RESIDENTIAL
UNITS ON A 6,000 SQUARE-FOOT
PROPERTY GENERALLY LOCATED
150 FEET WEST OF THE OF THE
SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAGUARO
BLVD AND PARKVIEW AVE. IN THE
C-2 (INTERMEDIATE COMMERCIAL)
ZONING DISTRICT.

D Site Location

MCDOWELL MOUNTAIN REGIONAL PARK

SCOTTSDALE
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architecture

March 26, 2026

Mr. John Gurczak

Gurczak Luxury Development
9617 N. Saguaro Blvd.
Fountain Hills, AZ 85268

RE: 16865 E Parkview Mixed Use Building Development
Project Narrative

The proposed project is a new three-story mixed-use building located at 16865 E. Parkview Avenue. The building
occupies a 4,590 square foot footprint on a 6,000 square foot lot and is organized with commercial space at the
ground level and residential units above. The ground floor includes approximately 1,000 square feet of retail space
oriented toward Parkview Avenue, along with six individual one-car garages accessed from the side driveway,
supporting the residential units above. Upper floors contain six residential units, each configured as two-bedroom,
two-bath layouts ranging from approximately 1,300 to 1,400 square feet, with private balconies and central
s'rc:ir/elevq'ror access.

The building is designed with a contemporary desert-appropriate material palette, including a stone veneer base at
the ground level, fiber cement lap siding, EIFS cladding with decorative reveals, and aluminum and glass storefront
systems at the commercial frontage. Upper-level residential units incorporate large window openings, metal trim
accents, and balcony railings with either glass or cable systems. The overall massing and materials are intended to
provide visual interest along the street frontage while maintaining durability and compatibility with the surrounding
context.

Timothy R. Flintoff Jr.

/'J’.’--‘; r- -
d /{2 >

e
Timothy R. Flintoff Jr., AIA, NCARB
Architect — Principal

4545 Architecture and Design PLLC.
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BUILDING INFORMATION:
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DETERMINE THE DESIGN INTENT. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE
FOR THE COMPLETE SET OF WORK AS INDICATED AND SHALL FIELD

GENERAL ELEVATION/SECTION NOTES
THIS DRAWING IS DIAGRAMMATIC AND SHOULD BE USED TO
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VERIFY ALL WORK, COORDINATE ALL DRAWINGS / NEW WORK AND
SHALL NOTIFY ARCHITECT IMMEDIATELY OF ANY DISCREPANCIES IN

THE DOCUMENTS BEFORE PROCEEDING. FAILURE TO DO SO WILL

RESULT IN THE CONTRACTOR TAKING FULL RESPONSIBILITY AND

LIABILITY FOR SAID DISCREPANCIES.

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE SHOWN FROM FINISH FACE TO FINISH FACE OF

PARTITION UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

2.

ALL WORK SHALL BE DONE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL LOCAL, STATE,

COUNTY CODE REGULATIONS, O.S.H.A., AND THE AMERICAN WITH
DISABILITIES ACT (ADA). REFER TO THE CODE PLAN FOR MORE

INFORMATION.
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REFER TO SIDING MANUFACTURER INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS AND

STANDARD DETAILS
CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY/COORDINATE CODE REQUIRED WINDOW
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ACCORDING TO MANUFACTURER INSTRUCTIONS

4
5.
6

ELEVATION KEY NOTES:

(TYPLICAL THIS SHEET ONLY)

ALUM AND GLASS RESIDENTIAL STOREFRONT WINDOW SYSTEM. BASIS OF DESIGN: ANDERSEN

WOODTONE JAMES HARDIE LAP SIDING WITH 3" COLOR-MATCHED TRIM AT EDGES AND
WINDOW WALL

CORNERS.
GLASS PANELS WITH ALUMINUM CAP. BASIS OF DESIGN: VIEW RAIL BASE RAIL.

EIFS CLADDING SYSTEM WITH DECORATIVE REVEALS
CABLE RAIL. BASIS OF DESIGN: VIEW RAIL SIGNATURE CABLE RAILING.

PREFINISHED METAL-WRAPPED TRIM
RESIDENTIAL WINDOW SYSTEM, BASIS OF DESIGN: ANDERSEN 100 SERIES
PREFINISHED ALUM SUNSHADES

(o)

@ ALUM AND GLASS COMMERCIAL STOREFRONT SYSTEM

(s)
(&)

@ RESIDENTIAL RAILING SYSTEM. OPTIONS:

()
()

uC = iEC

0T - €T

|

A LA A e e e N L
DUl s ~
\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\H e AN [

HHHHHHHHA AL ~ b

“ “‘ “‘ “‘ “‘ “‘ \w\ / \ |-
\\\\\\\\ »\\\\\\\\\\\\\\\‘

T.0. PARAPET
- OII

36'

@
@

TOP PLATE
10"

33 -

174

THIRD FLOOR Y
- 10"

SECOND FLOOR

24
13'

@
@

W6 LT

10"
GROUND FLOOR
0-4"

GRADE

0

0"

:

- LE

SOUTH ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4"=1-0"

1

Drawn by :
Author
Checked by :
Checker
Sheet Title :
EXTERIOR
ELEVATIONS
Project No
2025011

A3.2

Sheet No. :

.00V

W1

¥ -.0T
AR
AR R R HEHEHEHAHEH A

T.0. PARAPET
0

36'

@
@

THIRD FLOOR
10"

TOP PLATE
24

33'-10"

@

SECOND FLOOR

13'-10"

GROUND FLOOR

0-

<
@
<

4
GRADE
0"

0

uC " EC

W07 - €T

DO77d ‘13NYdly go4 Aylow] 1202® | SONIMYEA ITVIS LON Od

EAST ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4"=1-0"

2

NOTLV OO T dIdIs d40NTd

Meeting Packet Page 71 of 117




STRIP_| OC ATION

BINDER

T.0. PARAPET

36'- 0"

TOP PLATE

4 4

33'-10"

THIRD FLOOR
24'- 10"

11

SECOND FLOOR
13'- 10"

GROUND FLOOR
-4

GRADE

13'-6

-0

40

4

0-0"

2

NORTH ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4"=1-0"

20"

T.0. PARAPET
36'- 0"

TOP PLATE
33' - 10"

_o

24

THIRD FLOOR
24'- 10"

40' - 0"

SECOND FLOOR
13'- 10"

GROUND FLOOR
0-4"

1"

1'-

9"

5.

-0"

7

|

A

!

!

GENERAL ELEVATION/SECTION NOTES:

1.

THIS DRAWING IS DIAGRAMMATIC AND SHOULD BE USED TO
DETERMINE THE DESIGN INTENT. THE CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE
FOR THE COMPLETE SET OF WORK AS INDICATED AND SHALL FIELD
VERIFY ALL WORK, COORDINATE ALL DRAWINGS / NEW WORK AND
SHALL NOTIFY ARCHITECT IMMEDIATELY OF ANY DISCREPANCIES IN
THE DOCUMENTS BEFORE PROCEEDING. FAILURE TO DO SO WILL
RESULT IN THE CONTRACTOR TAKING FULL RESPONSIBILITY AND
LIABILITY FOR SAID DISCREPANCIES.

ALL DIMENSIONS ARE SHOWN FROM FINISH FACE TO FINISH FACE OF
PARTITION UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED.

ALL WORK SHALL BE DONE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ALL LOCAL, STATE,
COUNTY CODE REGULATIONS, O.S.H.A., AND THE AMERICAN WITH
DISABILITIES ACT (ADA). REFER TO THE CODE PLAN FOR MORE
INFORMATION.

REFER TO SIDING MANUFACTURER INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS AND
STANDARD DETAILS

CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY/COORDINATE CODE REQUIRED WINDOW
EGRESS REQUIREMENTS

CONTRACTOR TO PREP AND REPAIR ALL EXISTING EXTERIOR
MASONRY WALLS FOR APPLICATION OF "STOGUARD GOLD COAT"
ACCORDING TO MANUFACTURER INSTRUCTIONS

ELEVATION KEY NOTES:

(TYPLICAL THIS SHEET ONLY)

QIOECICICICONOIS

STONE VENEER

WOODTONE JAMES HARDIE LAP SIDING WITH 3" COLOR-MATCHED TRIM AT EDGES AND
CORNERS.

EIFS CLADDING SYSTEM WITH DECORATIVE REVEALS
ALUM AND GLASS COMMERCIAL STOREFRONT SYSTEM
PREFINISHED METAL-WRAPPED TRIM

ALUM AND GLASS RESIDENTIAL STOREFRONT WINDOW SYSTEM. BASIS OF DESIGN: ANDERSEN
WINDOW WALL

RESIDENTIAL RAILING SYSTEM. OPTIONS:

GLASS PANELS WITH ALUMINUM CAP. BASIS OF DESIGN: VIEW RAIL BASE RAIL.
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Citizen Participation Plan for Gurczak Luxury Development — 16865 E Parkview Ave - Special Use Permit
Date: 2-2-2026

Purpose: The purpose of this Citizen Participation Plan is to inform citizens, property owners,
and nearby neighborhood associations of the special use permit application for a new
mixed-use development. This plan will ensure that those affected by this application will
have an adequate opportunity to learn about and comment on the proposal.

Applicant:

Gurczak Luxury Development LLC
P.O. Box 20256

Fountain Hills, AZ 85268

(480) 272-1308

Email: John.Gurczak@gmail.com

Location: The property being considered for this SUP is located in Tract 208, near the corner of Saguaro
Blvd & Parkview Ave.

Action Plan: In order to provide effective citizen participation in conjunction with this
application, the following actions will be taken to provide opportunities to understand and
address any real or perceived impacts of the development that members of the community
may have.

1. A contact list will be developed for citizens and HOA's within 300’ of the project
location.

2. All persons listed on the contact list will receive a letter describing the project, project

Schedule & Site plan. Citizens will be provided with contact information on where to send letters/emails
with their questions/concerns. The letters/emails received will be submitted with the Citizen
Participation Report to the Town.

3. Presentations will be made to groups of citizens or neighborhood associations upon
request. Copies of the sign-in list and any comments will be submitted with the Citizen
Participation Report.

4. An email will be sent to the case planner following each milestone, and

at any other time there is significant input, to inform the staff of the progress of
implementing the Plan.

Schedule:

Mail letters by February 13", 2026
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GURCZAK LUXURY DEVELOPMENT

Good Neighbor Statement
16865 E. Parkview Ave. — Special Use Permit Mixed-Use Development

A/B. Property Owner & Business Contact Information

Gurczak Luxury Development LLC
P.O. Box 20256

Fountain Hills, AZ 85269
480-272-1308
John.Gurczak@gmail.com

C. Emergency Contact Information - Emergency Contact Information will be placed at the
property location.

D. No major negative impacts are foreseen but will be handled through Gurczak Luxury
Development. John Gurczak serves on the board of Tract 208 & heads the architectural
committee.

E. Conflict Resolution Process — All concerns & conflicts will be resolved through Gurczak
Luxury Development. John Gurczak serves on the board of Tract 208 & heads the architectural
committee.

F. The project will be a positive addition to Tract 208. Gurczak Luxury Development currently

owns 33% of the vacant land in Tract 208 & will be bringing forward many similar mixed-use
projects.
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Gurczak Luxury Development LLC - John Gurczak

P.0. Box 20256

Fountain Hills, AZ 85269

April 2nd, 2026

On February 20th, 2026 a citizen participation letter summarizing the project & special use
permit was sent out to all property owners within 300’ of 16865 E. Parkview Ave. No responses
were received by email or mail.

Sincerely,

John A. Gurczak ].D. - President - Gurczak Luxury Development LLC

Jolin /4. Guncgak
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ITEM 7.c.
TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS

STAFF REPORT
Meeting Date: 4/13/2026
Meeting Type: Planning and Zoning Commission Regular Meeting
Submitting Department: Development Services
Prepared by: John Wesley, Development Services Director

Staff Contact Information: Phone: 480-816-5138
Email: jwesley@fountainhillsaz.gov

Request to Town Council Regular Meeting (Agenda Language)
PUBLIC HEARING, with CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Relating to
Ordinance 26-06 amending Sections 1.12, and 2.04 A and F; and adding Sec. 19.06 H to
provide for site plan modifications and murals.

Staff Summary (background)
At the December 16, 2025, Town Council meeting, staff presented an item for Council
direction regarding the establishment of a Placemaking Strategy for the installation of murals
on the exterior of buildings. The Community Economic Development Strategy and the
Downtown Strategy both contain implementation strategies for placemaking. The current
utility box murals program has drawn a lot of attention to this idea and staff has received
interest from several businesses and property owners regarding painting murals on buildings.

Over the last several years, multiple business owners have expressed interest in murals on
their buildings and have approached the Town with various proposals, including:

e Donating a wall for a Town-installed mural;

¢ Donating a wall and splitting the mural installation costs 50/50 with the Town; and,

¢ Fully funding a private mural installation (100% paid by the business or property
owner).

In response to this, the Council directed staff to further explore what steps need to be taken to
implement this portion of the strategy to ensure that murals painted on buildings will enhance
the image and character of the town. Staff has identified two basic steps that are required to
accomplish this goal: 1) establish a policy on murals for Town participation, and 2) amend the
zoning ordinance to provide for and place basic standards on the installation and maintenance
of murals.

Under current zoning provisions, the Town does not regulate installation of murals or have
the means to review repainting a building unless specific paint colors were approved during
site plan review. Further, the adopted Architectural Review Standards limit the number of
colors that can go on a building. After reviewing the zoning ordinance, it has been determined
that changes should be made to three sections of the ordinance: Definitions, Site Plan
Amendments, and Architectural Review Standards in order to regulate installation of murals.

Unless the proposed changes to the zoning ordinance are adopted, murals can be painted on
most buildings in town without any oversight or review by the Town.
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Proposed Ordinance Provisions
The first item needed is a definition of mural. After reviewing language in other ordinances,
staff is proposing the following definition be added to Sec. 1.12:

Mural: A non-commercial picture, scene, or diagram displayed on the exterior of a
building through application of paint, canvas, tile, panels or similar materials, generally for
the purposes of decoration or artistic expression, including but not limited to painting,
fresco, or mosaic.

Section 2.04 of the Zoning Ordinance establishes the requirement for site plan review and
approval. As part of the site plan review process, the applicant is to provide a color pallet for
how the building will be painted as well as a color elevation. It is through this means that the
Town has the opportunity to review the exterior treatment of a building and respond to those
design choices. There is nothing in the ordinance today that would prohibit a person from
choosing to paint a mural on their building.

Section 2.04 A 2 states what types of development require site plan review prior to
consideration of a building permit. This section is being expanded to make it clear that
redevelopment would include modifications to the exterior of the building. This will give us
clear authority to require Town review prior to repainting a building for a mural where a site
plan currently does not exist.

Section 2.04 F establishes the criteria for site plan modifications. There is nothing in the
current list of modifications that addresses changes to paint colors or other similar changes to
the exterior of the building. In order to provide oversight of changes to existing buildings,
staff is proposing that an additional provision be added as follows:

F. Changes to paint colors, materials, themes, or exterior treatment of the facade.

There has been some concern with this change to Town policies and ordinance to provide for
murals. Concerns range from having too many murals that the Town begins to look cluttered
to the content of what might be included in a mural. Again, there is nothing in the ordinances
today that would prohibit a mural from being painted on a building. There are free speech
questions that can be raised. The following is being proposed as an addition to Chapter 19 to
allow murals in a controlled manner:

H. Murals. Murals as defined in Sec. 1.12 are permitted. A mural may use more than the
five colors as stated in Sec. 19.06 B.
1. Murals must:
a. Fit with and complement the architecture and other design elements of the
building;
b. Fit the context of the area; and,
c. Utilize the design themes in the Town's most recently approved "Call to Artists"
program.
2. Murals cannot:
a. Cover doors and windows;
b. Use metallic paint, reflectors, rotating lights, or lights pointing toward the street;
c. Contain new electrical or lighting components;
d. Contain profane, gory, or violent material;
e. Contain words, except the artist's name in a lower corner of the mural;
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f. Contain people or images of people;
g. Extend beyond the surface of the building wall or have materials that fasten to the
wall;
h. Contain sign copy or logos. A mural shall be considered a wall sign or
commercial message and subject to the requirements of Chapter 6, Sign Regulations,
if it contains words, logos, trademarks or graphic representations of any person,
product or service for the purpose of advertising or identifying a business; or,
i. Be installed on a designated historic property.
3. Murals must be maintained in good condition and repainted as needed to repair
damage and avoid becoming faded.
4. Artists used to paint murals on the exterior of buildings must be selected from the
Town's list of pre-qualified artists.
Related Ordinance, Policy or Guiding Principle
Zoning Ordinance Chapter 1, Introduction
Zoning Ordinance Chapter 2, Site Plan Review Regulations
Zoning Ordinance Chapter 19, Architectural Review Standards
Risk Analysis
N/A
Recommendation(s) by Board(s) or Commission(s)
N/A
Staff Recommendation(s)
In order to be able to regulate the painting of murals on the exterior of buildings, staff
recommends adoption of Ordinance 26-06.
Suggested Motion
MOVE TO recommend adoption of Ordinance 26-06.

FISCAL IMPACT
Fiscal Impact:
Budget Reference:
Funding Source:

ATTACHMENTS
1. Ordinance 26-06
2.  Call to Artist Program
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ORDINANCE NO. 2026-06

ORDINANCE NO. 26-06

AN ORDINANCE OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
FOUNTAIN HILLS, MARICOPA COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING ZONING
ORDINANCE CHAPTER 1, [INTRODUCTION, SECTION 1.12,
DEFINITIONS, CHAPTER 2, PROCEDURES, SECTION 2.04 SITE PLAN
REVIEW REGULATIONS A. PUPROSE AND APPLICABILTY AND F. SITE
PLAN AMENDMENTS, AND ADDING CHAPTER 19, ARCHITECTURAL
REVIEW STANDARDS, SECTION 19.06 H. MURALS, TO PROVIDE
REGULATIONS REGARDING SITE PLAN MODIFICATIONS AND
INSTALLATION OF MURALS

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the Town of Fountain Hills (the “Town
Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 93-22 on November 18, 1993, which adopted the
Zoning Ordinance for the Town of Fountain Hills (the “Zoning Ordinance”); and

WHEREAS, the Town Council desires to amend Chapter 1, Introduction, Sec. 1.12,
Definitions, Chapter 2, Procedures, Sec. 2.04 A. Purpose and Applicability and F., Site
Plan Amendments, and adding Chapter 19, Architectural Review Standards, Sec.
19.06 H., Murals, to provide regulations regarding site plan amendments and
installation of murals; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Zoning Ordinance and pursuant to ARIZ. REV.
STAT. § 9-462.04, public hearings regarding this ordinance were advertised in the
March 18, 2026, and March 25, 2026, editions of the Fountain Hills Times; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the Town Council on May 19, 2026; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with Article II, Sections 1 and 2, Constitution of Arizona,
and the laws of the State of Arizona, the Town Council has considered the individual
property rights and personal liberties of the residents of the Town and the probable
impact of the proposed ordinance on the cost to construct housing for sale or rent
before adopting this ordinance.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS, ARIZONA, as follows:

SECTION 1. The recitals above are hereby incorporated as if fully set forth
herein.

SECTION 2. Chapter 1, Introduction, Chapter 2, Procedures, Chapter 19,
Architectural Review Standards of the Fountain Hills Zoning Ordinance are hereby
amended as provided in Exhibit A.
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ORDINANCE NO. 2026-06

SECTION 3. If any provision of this Ordinance is for any reason held by any
court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable, such provision or portion
hereof shall be deemed separate, distinct and independent of all other provisions
and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this
Ordinance.

SECTION 4. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after its
passage and adoption by the Town Council of the Town of Fountain Hills, Arizona,
and its approval by the Mayor and attestation by the Town Clerk.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Fountain
Hills, Arizona, this 19th day of May, 2026.

TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS, ARIZONA ATTEST:

Gerry M. Friedel, Mayor Bevelyn Bender, Town Clerk
REVIEWED BY: APPROVED AS TO FORM:
Rachael Goodwin, Town Manager Jennifer ]. Wright, Town Attorney
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ORDINANCE NO. 2026-06

ORDINANCE NO. 2026-06
EXHIBIT A

Chapter 1. Introduction

Sec. 1.12 Definitions

MURAL: A NON-COMMERCIAL PICTURE, SCENE, OR DIAGRAM DISPLAYED ON THE
EXTERIOR OF A BUILDING THROUGH APPLICATION OF PAINT, CANVAS, TILE,
PANELS OR SIMILAR MATERIALS, GENERALLY FOR THE PURPOSES OF DECORATION
OR ARTISTIC EXPRESSION, INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO PAINTING, FRESCO, OR
MOSAIC.

Chapter 2. Procedures

Section 2.04. Site Plan Review Regulations

A. Purpose and Applicability.

2. Applicability. All nonresidential developments, multifamily developments having
five or more dwelling units, and mixed-use developments shall receive Site Plan
approval prior to submission-efconstructionplansrelatedtea ANY NEW
development, OR redevelopment, EXTERIOR SITE OR BUILDING MODIFICATION,
or expansion of existing development. IF A BUILDING PERMIT IS RQUIRED, THE
SITE PLAN SHALL BE APPROVED PRIOR TO SUBMISSION OF CONSTRUCTION
PLANS FOR REVIEW.

F. Site Plan Amendments. Following approval of a Site Plan, modifications to the site
or building must be approved through approval of a Site Plan amendment following
the procedures above. Site plan amendment may be considered minor or major as
defined below. The fee for a minor Site Plan amendment shall be one-quarter the
current Site Plan review fee. The Zoning Administrator shall determine if a Site Plan
modification is minor or major using the criteria below:
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ORDINANCE NO. 2026-06

1. A modification shall be considered minor if the Zoning Administrator
determines the modification involves:

F. CHANGES TO PAINT COLORS, MATERIALS, THEMES, OR EXTERIOR
TREATMENT OF THE FACADE.

Chapter 19. Architectural Review Standards

Section 19.06 Materials and Colors

H. MURALS. MURALS AS DEFINED IN SEC. 1.12 ARE PERMITTED. A MURAL
MAY USE MORE THAN FIVE COLORS AS STATED IN SEC. 19.06 B.

1. MURALS MUST
A. FIT WITH AND COMPLEMENT THE ARCHITECTURE AND OTHER
DESIGN ELEMENTS OF THE BUILDING;
B. FIT THE CONTEXT OF THE AREA; AND,
C. UTILIZE THE DESIGN THEMES IN THE TOWN’S MOST RECENTLY
APPROVED “CALL TO ARTISTS” PROGRAM.

2. MURALS CANNOT:
A. COVER DOORS AND WINDOWS;
B. USE METALLIC PAINT, REFLECTORS, ROTATING LIGHTS OR
LIGHTS POINTING TOWARDS THE STREET;
C. CONTAIN NEW ELECTRICAL OR LIGHTING COMPONENTS;
D. CONTAIN PROFANE, GORY, OR VIOLENT MATERIAL;
E. CONTAIN WORDS, EXCEPT THE ARTIST’S NAME IN A LOWER
CORNER OF THE MURAL;
F. CONTAIN PEOPLE OR IMAGES OF PEOPLE;
G. EXTEND BEYOND THE SURFACE OF THE BUILDING WALL OR
HAVE MATERIALS THAT FASTEN TO THE WALL;
H. CONTAIN SIGN COPY OR LOGOS. A MURAL SHALL BE CONSIDERED
A WALL SIGN OR COMMERCIAL MESSAGE AND SUBJECT TO THE
REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 6, SIGN REGULATIONS, IF IT CONTAINS
WORDS, LOGOS, TRADEMARKS OR GRAPHIC REPRESENTATIONS OF
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ORDINANCE NO. 2026-06

ANY PERSON, PRODUCT OR SERVICE FOR THE PURPOSE OF
ADVERTISING OR IDENTIFYING A BUSINESS; OR,
L. BE INSTALLED ON A DESIGNATED HISTORIC PROPERTY.
3. MURALS MUST BE MAINTAINED IN GOOD CONDITION AND REPAINTED
AS NEEDED TO REPAIR ANY DAMAGE AND AVOID BECOMING FADED.
4. ARTISTS USED TO PAINT MURALS ON THE EXTERIOR OF BUILDINGS
MUST BE SELECTED FROM THE TOWN'’S LIST OF PRE-QUALIFIED ARTISTS.
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CALL TO ARTISTS
Town of Fountain Hills Electric Box Mural Project

Deadline to Apply: October 20, 2025, by 11:59 PM (Arizona Time)
Project Completion: November-December 2025 (All murals completed by December 31)
Commission Awards: $3,000-$4,000 per mural (depending on box size)

Project Overview

The Town of Fountain Hills, in partnership with Art State Arizona, is seeking Arizona-based
artists and artist teams to create original, site-specific murals on eight (8) utility and
electric boxes throughout Fountain Hills.

These murals will turn everyday infrastructure into vibrant community landmarks that
celebrate the region’s stunning natural landscape, rich cultural history, and creative spirit.
The program continues the Town’s investment in public art as a means of enhancing civic
spaces, fostering pride, and supporting Arizona artists.

Artistic Themes

Artists are encouraged to create designs that reflect the spirit, beauty, and identity of
Fountain Hills, connecting to one or more of the following thematic directions:

o Desert and Botanical Life: Celebrate the native flora and fauna of the Sonoran
Desert — saguaros, agaves, hummingbirds, and desert blooms.

o Dark Sky Inspiration: Fountain Hills is one of the world’s few International Dark Sky
Communities. Designs may capture the wonder of night skies, constellations, and
celestial movement.

« Outdoor Recreation and Exploration: Depict the trails, mountains, and lakes that
define Fountain Hills’ outdoor lifestyle.

¢ Community Identity: Illustrate the connection, inclusion, and vibrancy that make
Fountain Hills a uniquely creative desert community.

All artwork must be family-friendly, original, and suitable for public display.

Commission Details
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o Total Commissions: 8
« Commission Range: $3,000-$4,000 (depending on box size and complexity)
¢ Box Sizes: Vary by location (final measurements provided to selected artists)
e Timeline:

o Application Deadline: October 20, 2025, at 11:59 PM

o Selection Notification: Early November 2025

o Mural Completion: No later than December 31, 2025

Each selected artist will enter into a Public Art Agreement with the Town of Fountain Hills
and Art State Arizona outlining scope, payment schedule, and insurance requirements.

Artist Responsibilities & Technical Requirements
Preparation and Installation
e The Town of Fountain Hills will power wash each electric box prior to installation.
e Prior to painting, the artist must prime all surfaces with one of the following:
o KILZ2 Exterior White Latex Primer, or
o Rust-Oleum White Enamel Metal Primer, or

o Another high-quality exterior primer suitable for metal surfaces (approved in
advance).

o After completion, the artist will seal the entire mural using a UV-protective, weather-
resistant sealant to ensure long-term durability.

Design & Collaboration

e Artists will collaborate with the Town of Fountain Hills and Art State Arizona to
finalize their designs.

e Artists should anticipate at least two rounds of revisions or edits before approval.

¢ Afinal, to-scale design and site rendering must be submitted and approved prior to
installation.

¢« The final artwork must reflect the approved concept, with only minor adjustments
permitted onsite.
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Materials

Artists are responsible for providing all paints, supplies, equipment, and materials required
for the project, including primers, paints, brushes, ladders, and sealants.

All materials used must be high-quality, exterior-grade, fade-resistant, and UV-stable for
long-term durability in Arizona’s desert climate.

Eligibility
This callis open to professional artists and artist teams living in Arizona.
Experience in mural painting, public art, or large-scale outdoor works is preferred.

Emerging artists are welcome to apply with a strong portfolio that demonstrates capability
and artistic vision.

Selection Process & Criteria

A panel of representatives from the Town of Fountain Hills, Art State Arizona, and local arts
professionals will review submissions based on:

1. Artistic excellence and originality

2. Connection to Fountain Hills’ identity and themes

3. Feasibility and durability of materials

4. Past experience and demonstrated ability to complete similar projects
5. Quality of portfolio and visual presentation of concept

Selected artists will be notified by early November 2025.

Application Requirements

All materials must be submitted electronically by October 20, 2025, at 11:59 PM (Arizona
Time).

Required Materials:

1. Artist Statement (1 page): Describe your artistic practice and how it relates to the
proposed theme(s).
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2. Concept Sketch(es): Visual renderings or mock-ups showing your design concept,
color palette, and integration with the box shape.

3. Concept Description (250-500 words): Explain the inspiration behind your design
and its relevance to Fountain Hills.

4. Resume or CV: Include previous mural, public art, or community-based projects.

5. Portfolio (3-5 images): Samples of previous work demonstrating artistic quality and
technical ability.

6. Budget Overview: A simple breakdown of materials and expected costs (included
within your commission total).

About the Partners
Art State Arizona

Art State Arizona strengthens Arizona’s cultural and economic fabric by making the arts
essential to everyday life. Through creativity, collaboration, and advocacy, Art State
integrates arts into workplaces, healthcare, education, government, and public spaces—
fostering equity, connection, and creative growth statewide.

Town of Fountain Hills

Surrounded by the McDowell Mountains and the Verde River, Fountain Hills is a community
built on natural beauty and civic pride. Recognized as an International Dark Sky
Community, the Town is committed to sustainability, public art, and enhancing the well-
being of residents through culture, creativity, and thoughtful design.

Additional Information

o Selected artists will be featured in Town of Fountain Hills and Art State Arizona
media campaigns, press releases, professional photography]and\social media
spotlights.

e Artists must comply with all Town safety regulations during installation.
» Artists will coordinate installation dates and times with Town [representatives.

¢ All artwork becomes the property of the Town of Fountain Hills upon completion.

Commented [AJ1]: Just a note - it would be cool to
coordinate with muralists to have them included in the
photography that the town will organize

Commented [AJ2]: Question - in the past the
coordination was between SAACA, artist and Town. Once
selected will that be turned over to the town?
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How to Apply

Submit all required materials by October 20, 2025, at 11:59 PM (Arizona Time) using the
official online application:

For questions or assistance, contact:
Art State Arizona Public Art Program

kate@artstateaz.org
www.artstateaz.org

Join Us in Illuminating the Desert

Art has the power to transform ordinary places into extraordinary experiences.
Through this project, Fountain Hills will continue to shine as a place where nature, art, and
community thrive together.
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ITEM 7.d.
TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS

STAFF REPORT
Meeting Date: 4/13/2026
Meeting Type: Planning and Zoning Commission Regular Meeting
Submitting Department: Development Services
Prepared by: John Wesley, Development Services Director

Staff Contact Information: Phone: 480-816-5138
Email: jwesley@fountainhillsaz.gov

Request to Town Council Regular Meeting (Agenda Language)
PUBLIC HEARING, with CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION: Relating to
Ordinance 26-03 amending Zoning Ordinance Section 5.13, Community Residences to
remove sections moved to Town Code Article 8-8.

Staff Summary (background)
The Town Council directed staff to review the current ordinance provisions for community
residences and add provisions to require insurance and allow for inspections of these homes.
After reviewing the state statutes and the current ordinance provisions, it was determined the
best way to accomplish this was to move the registration portions of the existing ordinance to
the Business Regulations chapter of the Town Code. At their March 17, 2026, meeting, the
Council approved an ordinance establishing a new Article 8-8, Community Residences, in
Chapter 8, Business Regulations. This section of the Town Code now provides the
requirements for licensing of community residences and added the provisions desired by the
Council for insurance and inspections.

With the adoption of Ordinance 26-09 moving the registration requirements for community
residences to Article 8-8 of the Town Code, it is necessary to remove the duplicative
provisions from Sec. 5.13, Community Residences, from the Zoning Ordinance. Attached is
Ordinance 26-03 which amends Ordinance 26-03 to remove the portions of the existing
ordinance that are now covered in Article 8-8. The only other change to Sec. 5.13 is to add a
new subsection D. Registration. This section references the registration provisions in Town
Code Article 8-8.

Attached are the ordinance making the changes and a clean version of Sec. 5.13 with the
portions of the ordinance that have been moved to Article 8-8 removed.

Related Ordinance, Policy or Guiding Principle
Zoning Ordinance Section 5.13
Risk Analysis
N/A
Recommendation(s) by Board(s) or Commission(s)
N/A
Staff Recommendation(s)
MOVE TO recommend adoption of Ordinance 26-03.
Suggested Motion
MOVE TO recommend approval of Ordinance 26-03.
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FISCAL IMPACT
Fiscal Impact:
Budget Reference:
Funding Source:

ATTACHMENTS

1. Ordinance 26-03
2. Revised Section 5.13
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ORDINANCE NO. [2026-03]

ORDINANCE NO. [26-03]

AN ORDINANCE OF THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF
FOUNTAIN HILLS, MARICOPA COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING ZONING
ORDINANCE CHAPTER 5, GENERAL PROVISIONS, SECTION 5.13,
COMMUNITY RESIDENCES, DELETING PROVISIONS MOVED TO TOWN
CODE ARTICLE 8-8, COMMUNITY RESIDENCES.

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the Town of Fountain Hills (the “Town
Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 93-22 on November 18, 1993, which adopted the
Zoning Ordinance for the Town of Fountain Hills (the “Zoning Ordinance”); and

WHEREAS, the Town Council desires to amend Chapter 5, General Provisions,
Section 5.13, Community Residences; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with the Zoning Ordinance and pursuant to ARIZ. REV.
STAT. § 9-462.04, public hearings regarding this ordinance were advertised in the
March 25, 2026, and April 1, 2026, editions of the Fountain Hills Times; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the Planning and Zoning Commission on
April 13,2026, and by the Town Council on May 19, 2026; and

WHEREAS, in accordance with Article II, Sections 1 and 2, Constitution of Arizona,
and the laws of the State of Arizona, the Town Council has considered the individual
property rights and personal liberties of the residents of the Town and the probable
impact of the proposed ordinance on the cost to construct housing for sale or rent
before adopting this ordinance.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE MAYOR AND COUNCIL OF THE
TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS, ARIZONA, as follows:

SECTION 1. The recitals above are hereby incorporated as if fully set forth
herein.

SECTION 2. Chapter 5, Section 5.13 of the Fountain Hills Zoning Ordinance is
hereby amended as provided in Exhibit A.

SECTION 3. If any provision of this Ordinance is for any reason held by any
court of competent jurisdiction to be unenforceable, such provision or portion
hereof shall be deemed separate, distinct and independent of all other provisions
and such holding shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this
Ordinance.
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ORDINANCE NO. [2026-03]

SECTION 4. This ordinance shall become effective thirty (30) days after its
passage and adoption by the Town Council of the Town of Fountain Hills, Arizona,
and its approval by the Mayor and attestation by the Town Clerk.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Fountain
Hills, Arizona, this 195t day of May, 2026.

TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS, ARIZONA ATTEST:

Gerry M. Friedel, Mayor Bevelyn Bender, Town Clerk
REVIEWED BY: APPROVED AS TO FORM:
Rachael Goodwin, Town Manager Jennifer ]. Wright, Town Attorney
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ORDINANCE NO. [2026-03]

ORDINANCE NO. [2026-03]

EXHIBIT A

Section 5.13 Community Residences

A. Standards.

1. To prevent the clustering of community residences and to better integrate
community residence residents into the surrounding neighborhood and
community, such home must be located on a lot that is at least one thousand three
hundred twenty (1,320) feet from the exterior lot lines of another community

residence, measured by a straight line from the property line in any direction.
2. No more than two (2) persons per bedroom.

3. Anindividual required to register under Arizona law as a sex offender and

classified as a Level Il or Level [l community risk (intermediate to high risk) is not

permitted to live in a community residence.
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ORDINANCE NO. [2026-03]
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ORDINANCE NO. [2026-03]
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ORDINANCE NO. [2026-03]

BB. Any community residence that is in operation as of the adoption of this section
shall be considered a legal nonconforming use consistent with Section 4.01(B). Any new
community residence or any residence that is in operation but that transfers ownership

shall be subject to the provisions of this section.

EC. Waiver For Reasonable Accommodation. To establish a community residence that
does not comply with the occupancy or separation requirements, the applicant may
apply to the Development Services Department for a waiver for reasonable
accommodation. In all cases the Development Services Director shall submit the request
for the waiver to the Community Residence Waiver Committee to make findings of fact
in support of the determinations and shall render the decision in writing. The
application will initially be reviewed by the Development Services Director for
completeness. The Director may meet with and interview the applicant to request
additional supporting information to determine the necessity of the accommodation
and to ascertain or clarify information sufficient for the Committee to make the required

findings.

1. To grant a waiver, the Committee shall find affirmatively all of the following

standards:

a. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that the
proposed community residence can and will emulate a biological family and
function as a residential use rather than an institutional or other nonresidential

use.
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ORDINANCE NO. [2026-03]

b. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that the
proposed community residence needs to house more than eight (8) residents in
a family community residence or six (6) residents in a transitional community

residence or reduce the separation.

c. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that the
proposed community residence will not interfere with the normalization and
community integration of the residents of any existing community residence
and that the presence of other community residences will not interfere with the
normalization and community integration of the residents of the proposed

community residence.

d. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that it
will operate the home in a manner similar to that ordinarily required by state
licensing to protect the health, safety, and welfare of the occupants of the

proposed community residence.

e. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that
there are no other viable locations for the community residence and that the
proposed community residence in combination with any existing community
residences will not alter the residential character of the surrounding
neighborhood by creating an institutional atmosphere or by creating a de facto
social service district by concentrating community residences on a block or in a

neighborhood.

2. The Community Residence Waiver Committee shall be composed of the Town
Development Services Director, the Board of Adjustment chair or designee, and the

Planning and Zoning Commission chair or designee.

D. REGISTRATION. PRIOR TO OPERATING A COMMUNITY RESIDENCE, THE OWNER
OR OPERATOR MUST REGISTER THE HOME AS PROVIDED IN TOWN CODE ARTICLE 8-
8.

EE. Violations and Penalties.
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ORDINANCE NO. [2026-03]

1. In addition to applicable penalties under Arizona law, violations of this section

shall be subject to the provisions of Town Code Section 1-8-3 regarding civil

penalties.
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Section 5.13 Community Residences
A. Standards.

1. To prevent the clustering of community residences and to better integrate
community residence residents into the surrounding neighborhood and community,
such home must be located on a lot that is at least one thousand three hundred twenty
(1,320) feet from the exterior lot lines of another community residence, measured by a
straight line from the property line in any direction.

2. No more than two (2) persons per bedroom.

3. Anindividual required to register under Arizona law as a sex offender and classified
as a Level Il or Level Il community risk (intermediate to high risk) is not permitted to live

in a community residence.

B. Any community residence that is in operation as of the adoption of this section shall be
considered a legal nonconforming use consistent with Section 4.01(B). Any new
community residence or any residence that is in operation but that transfers ownership
shall be subject to the provisions of this section.

C. Waiver For Reasonable Accommodation. To establish a community residence that
does not comply with the occupancy or separation requirements, the applicant may apply
to the Development Services Department for a waiver for reasonable accommodation. In
all cases the Development Services Director shall submit the request for the waiver to the
Community Residence Waiver Committee to make findings of fact in support of the
determinations and shall render the decision in writing. The application will initially be
reviewed by the Development Services Director for completeness. The Director may meet
with and interview the applicant to request additional supporting information to determine
the necessity of the accommodation and to ascertain or clarify information sufficient for
the Committee to make the required findings.

1. To grant a waiver, the Committee shall find affirmatively all of the following

standards:

a. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that the
proposed community residence can and will emulate a biological family and
function as a residential use rather than an institutional or other nonresidential use.

b. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that the
proposed community residence needs to house more than eight (8) residents in a
family community residence or six (6) residents in a transitional community
residence or reduce the separation.
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c. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that the
proposed community residence will not interfere with the normalization and
community integration of the residents of any existing community residence and
that the presence of other community residences will not interfere with the
normalization and community integration of the residents of the proposed
community residence.

d. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that it will
operate the home in a manner similar to that ordinarily required by state licensing to
protect the health, safety, and welfare of the occupants of the proposed community
residence.

e. The applicant demonstrates through documentation and evidence that there are
no other viable locations for the community residence and that the proposed
community residence in combination with any existing community residences will
not alter the residential character of the surrounding neighborhood by creating an
institutional atmosphere or by creating a de facto social service district by
concentrating community residences on a block or in a neighborhood.

2. The Community Residence Waiver Committee shall be composed of the Town
Development Services Director, the Board of Adjustment chair or designee, and the
Planning and Zoning Commission chair or designee.

D. Registration. Priorto operating a community residence, the owner or operator must
register the home as provided in town code article 8-8.

E. Violations and Penalties.

1. In addition to applicable penalties under Arizona law, violations of this section shall
be subject to the provisions of Town Code Section 1-8-3 regarding civil penalties.
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ITEM 7.e.
TOWN OF FOUNTAIN HILLS

STAFF REPORT
Meeting Date: 4/13/2026
Meeting Type: Planning and Zoning Commission Regular Meeting
Submitting Department:  Development Services / Planning
Prepared by: Farhad Tavassoli, Senior Planner

Staff Contact Information: Phone: 480-816-5139
Email: ftavassoli@fountainhillsaz.gov

Request to Town Council Regular Meeting (Agenda Language)
Annual Update for the 2020 General Plan
Staff Summary (background)

Arizona Revised Statutes Section 9-461.07 A. 2. states that after the municipal legislative
body has adopted a general plan, the community’s planning agency shall render an annual
report to the legislative body on the status of the plan and progress in its application. The
Town adopted its current general plan on November 3, 2020. The previous annual report was
presented before the Planning and Zoning Commission on March 10, 2025, and was
forwarded to Town Council following the summer break.

The Fountain Hills General Plan 2020 includes the following requirement: Each year, the
Fountain Hills Development Services Department must prepare, and the Fountain Hills
Planning & Zoning Commission must review and submit to the Town Council an annual
report on the status of the General Plan progress. The report must include, but not be limited
to, the following:

e A summary of General Plan amendments processed during the preceding year and
those pending review, including General Plan amendments initiated by Town Council.

e A report on the progress and status of implementation actions enumerated in the
General Plan Implementation Strategy.

e A review of policy issues which may have arisen regarding provisions of the General
Plan.

e A recommendation for General Plan amendments to be initiated to maintain an
effective, up-to-date General Plan including policy changes, clarifications, and new
policy development; changes in character area; and other applicable changes. The
recommendation may also include suggestions to change implementation actions
priorities, as Town’s priorities shift, as well as General Plan amendments, if any, to be
included in the work program for the following fiscal year.

Attached is a draft report for the Commission's review and consideration. Report content
includes status updates received from the lead departments for various goals and policies
contained in the general plan. Based on comments from the Commission, staff will either
bring the report back for further review or forward it to Council. The attached draft report
includes a brief overview of actions taken during the 2024 calendar year to implement
provisions of the 2020 General Plan. The report also discusses and reevaluates some
implementation steps that are yet to be initiated.
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The Fountain Hills General Plan 2020 includes the following
requirement:
Each year, the Fountain Hills Development Services Department
must prepare, and the Fountain Hills
Planning & Zoning Commission must review and submit to the
Town Council an annual report on the
status of the General Plan progress. The report must include, but
not be limited to, the following:

Related Ordinance, Policy or Guiding Principle
Fountain Hills General Plan 2020

Risk Analysis
N/A

Recommendation(s) by Board(s) or Commission(s)

N/A
Staff Recommendation(s)

Staff recommends forwarding the annual report to the Town Council.
Suggested Motion

MOVE to forward the General Plan Annual Report to the Town Council.

FISCAL IMPACT
Fiscal Impact:
Budget Reference:
Funding Source:

ATTACHMENTS
1. 2025 General Plan Annual Report

Meeting Packet Page 105 of 117



| o

Fountain Hills General Plan 2020
2025 Annual Report

BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

Arizona Revised Statutes Section 9-461.07 A. 2. states that after the municipal legislative body
has adopted a general plan, the community’s planning agency shall render an annual report to
the legislative body on the status of the plan and progress in its application.

The Town of Fountain Hills has adopted and implemented general plans in accordance with state
statutes since 2002. The Fountain Hills General Plan 2010 was adopted by the Council on January
7, 2010 and was the guiding document for the Town until the voters ratified the 2020 General
Plan on November 3, 2020. This annual report summarizes the Town’s implementation efforts
for the 2025 calendar year.

Fountain Hills General Plan 2020

The Fountain Hills General Plan 2020 was adopted by Council on May 19, 2020 and ratified by
the voters on November 3, 2020 as a long-term vision for local development. The Plan did not
become official for use by staff and the Town until it was ratified by the voters. This report
discusses some implementation advances in the 2025 calendar year and continued efforts going
into the next several years. The report also identifies some implementation challenges and
identifies a few immediate and short-term General Plan goals that have fallen outside their
expected completion window.

Page 124 of the 2020 Plan includes direction regarding the annual report. It states:

Each year, the Fountain Hills Development Services Department must prepare, and the
Fountain Hills Planning & Zoning Commission must review and submit to the Town
Council an annual report on the status of the General Plan progress. The report must
include, but not be limited to, the following:
1. A summary of General Plan amendments processed during the preceding year
and those pending review, including General Plan amendments initiated by
Town Council.
2. A report on the progress and status of implementation actions enumerated in
the General Plan Implementation Strategy.
3. A review of policy issues which may have arisen regarding provisions of the

Page 10f12
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General Plan.

4. A recommendation for General Plan amendments to be initiated to maintain
an effective, up-to-date General Plan including: policy changes, clarifications,
and new policy development; changes in character area; and other applicable
changes. The recommendation may also include suggestions to change
implementation actions priorities, as Town’s priorities shift, as well as General
Plan amendments, if any, to be included in the work program for the following
fiscal year.

The conclusion of the report outlines several immediate and short-range goals that have not yet
been initiated and may be reevaluated through broader discussions with the Planning and Zoning
Commission and the Town Council. While many of these unmet goals have been noted in prior years
and are therefore repeated in this report, their inclusion is intentional. The purpose is to ensure that
any items the Commission or Council may wish to revisit, refine, or continue discussing remain clearly
identified.

1. SUMMARY OF GENERAL PLAN AMENDMENTS

There were no General Plan Amendments in the calendar year 2025, nor were there any
proposals for a General Plan Amendment.

It is important to note that the Town of Fountain Hills is landlocked and nearing full build-out.
The 1,276-acre State Trust Land located in the far northeast corner of the Town represents the
area with the highest potential for a future major General Plan amendment. It is also the largest
contiguous undeveloped property in Town, with zoning in place to accommodate single-family
residential uses, lodging, neighborhood-scale commercial development, and an interconnected
network of open space.

After several years of limited interest from the development community, Development Services
staff has recently been asked to host a series of informational meetings with potential
developers. However, no land auctions have been scheduled by the Arizona State Land
Department at this time. Based on current expectations, an auction may occur sometime during
the 2026 calendar year.

2. PROGRESS ON IMPLEMENTATION ACTIONS

The General Plan organizes the Town’s goals and policies according to three overarching
principles that guide its development, including Thriving Environment, Thriving Neighborhoods,
and Thriving Economy. These overarching principles contain eight (8) general plan elements
required by Arizona statutes. This section briefly highlights progress and implementation actions
as they relate to each of the eight (8) general plan elements and their respective goals and
policies. Each goal in the General Plan prescribes a time frame for initiation:
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e Ongoing

e Immediate — (initiate no later than 6 months after General Plan ratification by the voters)

e Short-range (First 4 years): Prioritizes development and redevelopment efforts that will
support the fiscal viability of the Town.

e Mid-range (5 to 8 Years): Prioritizes strategies that require funding and may not be pursue
until funding is available.

e Long-range (Within 10 years): Includes identification of funds for the preparation of
conceptual plans for State Trust Land in coordination with ASLD.

There is considerable progress to report on several fronts. This section briefly describes each of
the three overarching principles of the General Plan and their essential elements, and also
provides a brief description of the implementation actions taken during the 2025 calendar year.

Thriving Neighborhoods

Thriving Neighborhoods is the first of three overarching principles of the General Plan, addressing
policies pertaining to housing, neighborhood preservation/revitalization, neighborhood-scale
amenities and neighborhood safety to support healthy, complete, and vibrant neighborhoods.
Most of the implementation actions are identified by the General Plan as “Ongoing” efforts and
are realized daily.

Housing Element

Fountain Hills continues to accommodate a variety of housing types and quality development
and continues to maintain its existing housing stock and residential areas as essential to
sustaining Fountain Hills’ thriving neighborhoods. Residential permit and land entitlement
activity in 2025, as in previous years, saw a higher percentage for single-family residential use.
Calendar year 2025 saw 44 permits issued for new single-family residential homes, less than the
54 permits issued in the prior year. Permits were also issued for 7 single-family attached housing
units for the development adjacent to the MCO Realty building on Saguaro Blvd., just north of
Shea Blvd, while another 8 units are still awaiting special use permit approval.

Special use permits were approved for six residential units on the Avenue of the Fountains in the
Downtown area, as well as for twelve units in a commercial area along Panorama Drive. In
addition, building permits have been issued for fifteen townhome-style units near Saguaro and
Shea Boulevards. All three projects required, and were granted, Special Use Permits prior to
submitting for site plan and construction review, as each involved a residential use proposed
within a commercial zoning district.

The proposed 316-unit apartment complex at Four Peaks Plaza received zoning entitlements in
2024; however, the developer has not yet submitted construction plans to the Town. They are
awaiting more favorable market conditions before filing for building permits.
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Neighborhood Amenities

In 2021, the Town approved the Active Transportation Plan (ATP) to ensure multimodal
connectivity between neighborhoods, neighborhood parks, and significant natural open space.
Pedestrian, bicycle and trail connectivity are further addressed in the Social Environment Element
and in the Connectivity, Access and Mobility Element.

Safety

The Town applies Safe-by-Design concepts during the site plan review process. Safe-by-Design is
about including safety at the earliest possible stage of development review. During the design
review stage, staff implements concepts such as visibility of entryways, lighting, accessibility to
outdoor accessibility areas, and clearly defined pedestrian, bicycle, trails and open space
connectivity.

Thriving Environment

Thriving Environment integrates all aspects of the built, social, and natural environments by
carefully knitting growth areas, infill, redevelopment and revitalization, place-based land use
utilizing a character areas approach, connectivity, access and mobility supporting circulation for
all travel modes, parks, recreation, trails, and open space, resource protection, energy
conservation, air and water quality, infrastructure and public services in a cohesive manner as
integral parts of Fountain Hills.

Great Places

The Great Places Element defines the Town of Fountain Hills major character areas and the land
use mix supporting those areas. As a strategic tool, the Great Places Element guides new
development, redevelopment and infill to sustain the long-range viability of the Town and
continue to support the quality of life valued by the community. The following implementation
activities for 2025 demonstrate considerable progress in creating and fostering Great Places:

e Although not yet open to the public, construction of the long-awaited International Dark
Sky Discovery Center was completed this year, including installation of the telescope.
Originally scheduled to open in Fall 2025, funding issues have delayed its opening until the
coming year.

e The shade structure at the linear park along the Avenue of the Fountains—one of several
ongoing capital improvement projects in the plaza—was installed over the summer.
Located above the midpoint plaza and fountain on the eastern half of the plaza, the
structure measures approximately 60 by 40 feet. Picnic tables have also been added in this
area, which serves as a performance space for the “Concerts on the Avenue” series held in
the spring and fall. This installation is part of a three-year, $200,000 improvement program
for the Avenue of the Fountains. Additional work includes upgrading the electrical system
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for event receptacles, installing root barriers to protect the brick walkway from tree-root
lifting, and completing other landscaping enhancements.

A new mural was completed on the Pumphouse wall at Fountain Park near the Veterans
Memorial. Created by a Scottsdale-based and commissioned through the Southern Arizona
Arts & Cultural Alliance, the piece features the Fountain and “Fountain Hills” in large block
letters filled with Sonoran Desert imagery. The mural was selected after the Public Art
Committee chose to discontinue the previous Pumphouse Art Project and sought a
permanent installation for the space. The mural was completed in about a week using more
than 55 spray cans. New murals have also been installed on utility boxes throughout the
downtown area.

The Farmer’s Market, held every Wednesday between November and April, saw an
significant increase of approximately in vendors. The Market offers healthy eating options
and food trucks, as well as a variety of over 40 art vendors. The Market also hosted three
special events featuring the Children’s Entrepreneur Market (CEM), featuring 50 booths for
kids to make and sell all types of foods and crafts. CEM is a non-profit organization helping
children learn business with first-hand experience.

The community garden, funded in part by the Ft. McDowell-Yavapai Nation, entered its
eighth year. Garden organizers and members donate to local food pantry and hosts healthy
cooking classes. Pavers were recently installed to improve accessibility throughout the
garden compound.

The Town continues to coordinate service availability and enhancements with utility
providers to ensure service capacity to new development, redevelopment or infill. Town
staff coordinated with utility companies to relocate their infrastructure to accommodate a
number of sidewalk infill projects in 2025.

Economic Development staff regularly utilizes visitor analysis software to identify various
trade areas. The analyses assist the Town in mapping out business activity and consumer
behavior at various points of interest. Analyzing a trade area entails studying things like
traffic patterns, shopping habits, and existing businesses, for the purpose of exploring the
market potential of a planning projects or impacts from a special event.

In November 2025, the Fountain Hills Town Council approved amendments to the Zoning
Ordinance (Chapter 19), authorizing staff to approve design review plans based on
objective, measurable standards rather than subjective "guidelines". This update aligns
with HB2447, streamlining development, replacing subjective terms with "shall/must"
language, and implementing the new code by January 2026.
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e Agrant totaling approximately $50,000 was received from the neighboring Salt River Pima-
Maricopa Indian Community. Another grant of $76,329.83 was received from the Arizona
Office of Tourism. These grants help fund programs and projects that focus on education,
public safety, health, environment, and economic and community development. The Town
applied for a grant offered by the Fort McDowell-Yavapai Nation but was unsuccessful.

Social Environment

This Social Environment Element defines the Town of Fountain Hills” built public spaces as areas
for community interaction and networking. Such public spaces include community and regional
parks as well as public gathering spaces like plazas and courtyards in association with compact or
urban development. This element views streets, sidewalks and trails as social connectors and also
addresses passive and active recreation. When addressed in an integrated manner, the social
environment supports safety and a healthy and active lifestyle. The Town carried out a number
of activities in 2025 to support a social environment that supports safety and a healthy and active
lifestyle:

e Fountain Hills Parks and Recreation introduced new adult leagues for cornhole, pickleball,
and an “Adult Return to Recess” program offering beach volleyball, table tennis,
croque/bocce ball, and kickball, with Four Peaks Park also hosting its first pickleball
tournament. These programs are sponsored by local companies.

e The Fountain Hills Irish Fountain Fest recently received the Outstanding Special Event
Award at the 2025 Arizona Parks and Recreation Association Conference. This recognition
highlights the festival's status as a premier community event, which most recently took
place on March 14, 2026, drawing an estimated 10,000 visitors to Fountain Park.

Access, Connectivity, and Mobility

The Town Continues to design and maintain streetscapes that incorporate alternative travel
modes. In 2025, the following actions helped further improve the accessibility, connectivity and
mobility throughout town:

. The Public Works Department oversaw design and construction of several crosswalks at the
following locations:
o Golden Eagle Blvd. at Brittlebush Ln.
La Montana Drive & Cambria Dr.
La Montana Drive. & Hamilton Dr.
El Lago Blvd. & Verde River Dr.
Palisades Blvd. & Westby Dr.,
Paul Nordin Dr. & Verde River Dr.

O O O O O
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° A total of 0.98 miles of new sidewalk was installed at the following locations:
o Saguaro Blvd/Palisades Gap Elimination Project, 4,125 LF (0.78 miles)
o La Montana Dr (at Bashas’ Shopping Plaza) 462 LF (0.09 miles)
o La Montana Dr (Hamilton to Saguaro) 580 LF (0.11 miles)

. A total of 1.51 miles of new bicycle lanes were added at the following locations:
o La Montana Dr (Hamilton to Saguaro), 1,000 LF (0.19 miles)
o La Montana Dr (Palisades to Ave of the Fountains), 2,080 LF (0.39 miles)
o El Lago Blvd (Saguaro to Panorama), 4,900 LF (0.93 miles)

° In 2025, A total of 1.51 miles of new bicycle lanes were added at the following locations:
o La Montana Dr (Hamilton to Saguaro), 1,000 LF (0.19 miles)
o La Montana Dr (Palisades to Ave of the Fountains), 2,080 LF (0.39 miles)
o El Lago Blvd (Saguaro to Panorama), 4,900 LF (0.93 miles)

° The Town Council approved a $5 million budget for the Palomino Boulevard reconstruction
project, which began in September with curb removal and repair as the first phase of a
multi-million-dollar effort to address deteriorated pavement conditions. The full project
involves complete removal and replacement of asphalt along the 1.4-mile segment
between Palisades Boulevard and Fountain Hills Boulevard.

° The Town Council approved a $3.2 million contract with DCS Contracting to widen Shea
Boulevard, with 70% of the project funded through a Maricopa Association of Governments
grant and the Town covering the remainder, including a temporary shortfall to be
reimbursed in 2031. The project’s first phase will add a third eastbound lane between
Palisades Boulevard and Fountain Hills Boulevard. Additional future phases envision
widening Shea to six lanes between State Route 87 and Scottsdale, along with later
improvements between Fountain Hills Boulevard and Technology Drive.

Public Facilities and Services

The Town in conjunction with its servicing utility companies continues to ensure potable water
and sanitation services to its residents while complying with all applicable environmental
regulations at all levels of government. A new $500,000, four-stall restroom at Four Peaks Park
opened in January 2025.

Natural Resources and Open Space Element
In its consistent support for preservation and conservation efforts, the Town values the natural
environment as an essential component of a thriving community.

e The Adero Canyon Trailhead in Fountain Hills has seen significant expansion,
with the Mesquite Hollow Trailand the new Wilderness Trail recently completed,
providing a 1.8-mile rugged route connecting to the upper McDowell Mountain Preserve.
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These trails, built by volunteers, offer challenging, high-elevation hiking with scenic desert
views, completing a major phase of the local trail network.

e Town staff, with assistance from the State Historic Preservation Office, formally
submitted an application in 2025 to request designation of the Fountain to the National
Register of Historic Places (NRHP). Listing in the National Register of Historic Places
provides formal recognition of a property’s historical, architectural, or archeological
significance based on national standards used by every state. Unfortunately, the request
was turned down. The Town will be submitting a new request in the coming year based
on feedback received after the initial request.

e There have been three recycling events in 2025 sponsored in part by the Town, including
the Household Hazardous Waste collection event, the Shred-a-Thon, and the Residential
Electronic Recycling event. All three events were well attended by Fountain Hills
residents.

e The Town implements strict re-vegetation requirements for protected hillsides that
require the restoration of disturbed areas with native plant species that are consistent in
type and density with the surrounding native desert and encourage builders to design
with a contextual emphasis.

Thriving Economy

Thriving Economy supports a strategic economic development approach to achieve the long-
range viability of the Town and provides specific mechanisms to finance new development.

Economic Development
The following activities were performed in 2025 and pertain to the Economic Development
Element of the General Plan and were largely guided by the 2022 Strategic Plan:

e The Town initiated the design phase for streetscape improvements on Verde River Drive and
Parkview Avenue to enhance walkability, safety, and aesthetics in the downtown area. The
project includes widening sidewalks, adding trees, upgrading landscaping, and improving
pedestrian crossings. These improvements are part of a five-year effort to strengthen the
vibrancy of the downtown core, supported by a budget of more than $2 million.

e The Town continues to own and maintain dual port charging stations - one at the Civic Center
and the other at Fountain Park. The charging stations use the ChargePoint network which
operates a nationwide charging system. Ninety percent of the revenue generated from
people wishing to charge their vehicles goes to the Town, while 10% goes to ChargePoint.
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e Rezone proposals and special use permit for specific locations are guided by the General Plan
and its identified Character Areas. Staff cites the general plan in their recommendations to
the Planning and Zoning Commission.

Cost of Development

The Town continues to honor its current development agreements with the landowners and
developers, as well as its cost sharing through intergovernmental agreements with other
jurisdictions.

The Development Services department utilizes the Town Online Planning and Permitting System
(TOPPS) to provide a streamlined design review process for development and redevelopment of
the Town Center, Commerce Center, Saguaro Blvd and Shea Character Areas.

3. POLICY ISSUES

As the 2020 General Plan enters into the fifth year of implementation, a few issues remain with
regards to the timing and completion of some of the goals. Staff notes a number of immediate
and short-range implementation actions that have yet to be initiated. Immediate goals are
intended to be initiated within 6 months of ratification by voters. Short-range goals are to be
initiated within the first four years. Some goals have fallen outside of the expected time frame
for initiation. A number of factors have impacted its implementation progress, shifting priorities,
market conditions and logistical challenges. The calendar year 2025 is an opportunity for staff to
study the changing needs of the Town and identify opportunities and constraints that will better
guide the Town in its policy direction.

Immediate Goals

There are two immediate goals for which progress was to be initiated within six months of
ratification but have not yet begun. These two goals are listed below, followed by a brief
statement regarding their status:

e Goal: Consider Part time grant writer. (Economic Development, Goal 2, Policy 1)

Department staff regularly monitors and pursues grant opportunities that could support
new infrastructure, recreational amenities, and economic development initiatives.
However, available grants are limited, and not all awarded grants are ultimately accepted
by the Town Council after careful evaluation. While the Town will continue to seek and
apply for grants when appropriate, it may be worthwhile to reevaluate the feasibility of
adding a part-time position dedicated exclusively to researching and preparing grant
proposals.
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e Goal: Establish a General Plan Monitoring System coordinated with the CIP in
conformance with the policy direction supporting this goal [to share costs with other
entities]. (Cost of Development, Goal 10, Policy 1-2)

Though these meetings are not exclusively intended to address this specific goal of the
General Plan, it does allow planning staff to monitor how the Town’s resources are
directed in implementing the General Plan’s policies while also identifying cost sharing
opportunities.

Short-Term Goals

Steps toward completing the short-term goals of the General Plan are to be initiated within four
years after voter ratification. The following are short-term goals, followed by a brief statement
regarding their status:

e Goal: Develop and implement an investment plan that responds to the Economic
Development Plan’s priorities, and that prioritizes infrastructure improvements in the CIP.
(Economic Development)

Although the Town has not initiated a formal investment plan that ties together the CIP
and Strategic Economic Development Plan and the CIP, staff makes sure that both are
complementary in their vision.

e Goal: Commission a cost/benefit study to identify the gap between actual subdivision
regulations infrastructure specifications and determine the cost of meeting such
specifications. (Economic Development)

The Subdivision Regulations are a foundational part of shaping the Town’s housing stock
and commercial uses, as well as the infrastructure that supports them. The Town has long
believed that these regulations ensure quality infrastructure. Currently, there are few
large privately-owned properties with the potential of being subdivided further into
residential lots. As mentioned earlier, the 1,276-acre site owner by ASLD provides the best
development opportunity. Although a number of developers have approached Town with
expressed interest in acquiring the property, there are no auctions scheduled for the
property at this time. In anticipation of a successful acquisition from a developer, staff
will be researching the feasibility of a cost/benefit study in the coming year.

Goal: Prepare, adopt and implement an integrated Parks, Recreation, Trails and Open
Space System Master Plan (Social Environment)

As mentioned earlier in this report, the Town completed three new trails in its growing
network. As efforts continue in maintaining or improving this network, the Town will be
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able to utilize these efforts in tying together a network of trails with its large inventory of
open space into an integrated and organic master plan.

e Goal: Amend Zoning Ordinance to include, at a minimum, Safe-by-Design concepts.
(Thriving Neighborhoods)

Though not yet codified in the Zoning Ordinance, the Development Services department
strongly advocates Safe-by-Design concepts in its site plan and design review processes.
These concepts are similar to the Architectural Review Guidelines in Chapter 19 of the
Zoning Ordinance. However, the extent to which Safe-by-Design concepts can be applied
may vary depending on site conditions and related factors. Therefore, as stated in
previous years, the concepts may better be suited to remain a policy in the General Plan
rather than a development regulation in the zoning ordinance. However, staff welcomes
feedback from the Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council on this matter.

e Goal: Amend the Zoning Ordinance to include Low Impact Development (LID). (Natural
Resources and Open Space)

The term low impact development (LID) refers to systems and practices that use or mimic
natural processes that result in the infiltration, evapotranspiration or use of stormwater
in order to protect water quality and associated aquatic habitat. Like the Safe-by-Design
Concepts, the LID concepts have not been codified in the Zoning Ordinance. Many of the
Town’s standards, such as requiring stormwater pollution prevention plans (SWPPP) and
erosion control plans with new development plans largely align with many LID concepts.
However, staff welcomes feedback from the Planning and Zoning Commission and Town
Council on this matter.

The General Plan also identifies a number of mid-range and long-range goals that will be initiated
in the coming years:

e Goal: Work with ASLD to prepare a feasibility study for State Trust land and based on the
results [of a cost recovery study], consider future revenues that could be generated from
development of Trust Land. (Cost of Development)

This goal hinges on another goal which requires the Town to perform a cost recovery
study mentioned earlier. When and if such a cost recovery study is completed, staff would
invite a broader discussion with the Commission and Town Council before proposing
amendments to the ordinances.
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4. RECOMMENDATIONS FOR AMENDMENTS

Although a number of policy issues have been identified, staff does not recommend any
amendments to the General Plan at this time. Substantive changes to any goal in the general plan
would require a Major Amendment per the Arizona Revised Statutes, which entails an extensive
review and public notification process and could take several months from initiation to
completion. However, changes to the implementation steps used to arrive at each goal may only
require a minor amendment, which does not require extensive lead time and may be considered
by the Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council at any time. In any case, staff
appreciates further direction from the Planning and Zoning Commission and Town Council.
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